
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, March 4, 2024 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

1. Call to Order   
2. Roll Call  
3. Invocation and Pledge  
4. Announcements 
5. Approval of the Agenda  
6. Public Input  
7. Consent Agenda  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held February 19, 2024 
• Executive Session held February 19, 2024 

b. Approve 2024 Farmer’s Market Use Agreement 
c. Approve Residential Property Lease Agreements 
d. Approve Contracts for Awarded Bids Concerning Upgrades at the Dawsonville History 

Museum 
 

BUSINESS 
 

8. Georgia State Patrol Post #37 Donation Presentation 

9. Planning Commission Post #4 Appointment 

10. Proclamation: Colorectal Cancer Awareness Month 

11. Dawson County Schools: Request for Reservation of Pickleball Courts 
12. Restructure Permit Technician Position to Building Inspector 
13. Atlanta Motorsports Park: Special Event Request to Exceed Sound Limits 

     

 MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
 

    EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NEEDED: Pending or Potential Litigation, Real Estate Acquisition and/or Personnel 
     

    RESERVED FOR POTENTIAL ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS, IF NEEDED 
 

    ADJOURNMENT 
  

The next scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, March 18, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, should contact the Clerk 
at Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                    CONSENT AGENDA           

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/04/2024   
   
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

 
   CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  
 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held February 19, 2024 
• Executive Session held February 19, 2024 

b. Approve 2024 Farmer’s Market Use Agreement 
c. Approve Residential Property Lease Agreements 
d. Approve Contracts for Awarded Bids Concerning Upgrades at the Dawsonville 

History Museum  
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #       7     
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/04/2024  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 

 
• REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD FEBRUARY 19, 2024 
• EXECUTIVE SESSION MEETING HELD FEBRUARY 19, 2024 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, February 19, 2024 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 3 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Walden called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.   

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember William Illg, Councilmember Sandy Sawyer, 
Councilmember Mark French, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City 
Manager Bob Bolz, City Clerk Beverly Banister, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, Utility 
Director Jacob Barr, Downtown Development Director Amanda Edmondson and Finance Director 
Robin Gazaway.  Clay Moss was in attendance for Planning and Zoning.    

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE: Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember Phillips.   

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Councilmember French announced that early voting is underway for the 
Presidential Preference Primary.     

 

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to amend the agenda to add item #12a Consideration of Bid 
#24-RFB-007: Purchase and Installation of iRacing Gaming and Audio Package made by M. French; 
second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  

 

Motion to approve the agenda as amended made by W. Illg; second by S. Sawyer.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. 

 

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  None    

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a) made by S. 
Sawyer; second by W. Illg. Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting held February 5, 2024 

 
8. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION:  The Mayor and Council recognized Hunter Simmons for one year of 

service and Robin Gazaway for three years of service.  Clay Moss received the January 2024 
Employee of the Month Award and Beverly Banister was recognized for receiving the certificate for 
completing the Clerks Masters Education Management Development Program. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

9. ORDINANCE NO. 01-2024: An Ordinance Of The City Of Dawsonville, Georgia To Enact Impact Fees 
To Provide Funding For Local Roads, Parks And Recreation, And Other Benefits To The Public; To 
Provide For Exemptions; To Provide For The Accounting And Expenditure Of Fees; To Provide For 
The Means Of Appeal; To Provide For Severability; To Provide For An Effective Date; And For Other 
Purposes. First Public Hearing and First Reading: February 5, 2024; Second Public Hearing, Second 
Reading and Consideration to Adopt: February 19, 2024. 
 

City Attorney Tallant presented the second reading of the ordinance.   
 

Motion to open the public hearing made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously 
in favor.  Mayor Walden conducted the public hearing.  
 

The following citizen spoke in favor of the ordinance: 
 

• Terri Tragesser, 44 Gold Bullion Dr W, Dawsonville  - She stated she is in favor of impact fees 
to support the growth of the community and to provide relief to the taxpayers.  She asked what 
it would specifically cover; Attorney Tallant stated the impact fee study recommended impact 
fees for Parks and Recreation with other ways the City could address roads.  

 

The following citizen spoke in opposition of the ordinance: 
 

• Marilyn Sanvi, 660 Gold Creek Dr., Dawsonville – She asked for clarification on the public 
hearing notice stating it refers to roads, not just Parks and Recreation.  Attorney Tallant 
explained the ordinance imposes an impact fee for Parks and Recreation, however, there is 
an opportunity in the future for impact fees to address other things but that is not the ordinance 
itself.  

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, February 19, 2024 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 2 of 3 
 

Motion to close the public hearing made by S. Sawyer; second by M. French.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.     

 

Motion to approve Ordinance No. 01-2024 as presented made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  
Councilmember Phillips asked who will be collecting the fees; Attorney Tallant stated the City will 
appoint an Impact Fee Administrator being the Planning & Zoning department who will calculate and 
collect the fees which will stay with the City in a separate interest bearing account and can only be 
used for Parks and Recreation purposes.  Councilmember Phillips stated several developers have 
offered a fee to the City per lot and the City could use those funds without restriction.  Vote carried 
three in favor (French, Illg, Sawyer) and one opposed (Phillips) (Exhibit “A” ) 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

10. PRESENTATION BY TSW: COMPREHENSIVE DOWNTOWN STRATEGIC PLAN:  Beverly Bell 
from TSW provided a high level overview of the Comprehensive Downtown Strategic Plan and Tate 
Davis from KB Advisory Group provided the real estate market analysis and recommendations.   
 

11. DAWSON COUNTY MULTI-JURISDICTIONAL HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN:  City Manager Bolz 
reported on the process of the hazard mitigation plan update.  The County has recently approved the 
plan to be sent to GEMA/FEMA for approval then the Council and the City will need to approve the 
plan by resolution.  

 

BUSINESS 
 

12. OPIOID CLAIM: ENDO BANKRUPTCY:  Motion to approve the ENDO bankruptcy settlement plan 
as recommended by the City’s Opioid Claim Counsel made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.    

12a.  CONSIDERATION OF #BID 24-RFB-007: PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION of IRACING GAMING 
AND AUDIO PACKAGES:  Finance Director Gazaway reported three bids were received and two of 
the lowest bids did not provide complete bid packages.  She recommends awarding the bid to Atlanta 
Home Theater.   

 

 Motion to accept the bid for Bid #24-RFB-007 from Atlanta Home Theater in the amount of 
$207,886.00 to be paid out of the OneGeorgia Special Purpose Grant Fund made by M. French; 
second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.   

 

    STAFF REPORTS 
 

13. BOB BOLZ, CITY MANAGER:  He noted there were six leak adjustments made totaling $1,058.08.  
He also encouraged the Council to visit the distillery and the restaurant space as they continue the 
buildout of both areas.  

 

14. ROBIN GAZAWAY, FINANCE DIRECTOR:  Finance Director Gazaway provided the financial reports 
representing fund balances and activity through January 31, 2024.  

 

    MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS:   
 

Mayor Walden mentioned his gratitude to Anna Tobolski, who was present earlier at this meeting, for 
her service to the City as a member of the Planning Commission.  Mayor Walden asked about the 
kick-off date for the Farmers Market; City Manager Bolz stated there is a pre-planning meeting 
scheduled to determine start dates.        

    EXECUTIVE SESSION     

 At 5:40 p.m. a motion to close regular session and go into executive session for potential/pending 
litigation was made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

 

 At 6:04 pm a motion to close executive session was made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.  
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION 

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, February 19, 2024 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 3 of 3 
 

 Motion to resume regular session was made by C. Phillips; second by M. French.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.   

 

    ADJOURNMENT 
 

At 6:06 pm a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by W. Illg; second by S. Sawyer.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. 

  
 
 

 Approved this 4th day of March 2024 
 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   John Walden, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  
 
         
   Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
Attest: _________________________        
           Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 
 





Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:        APPROVE 2024 FARMERS MARKET USE AGREEMENT   

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/04/2024    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE FARMER’S MARKET USE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE 

DAWSON COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE FOR THE USE OF THE FARMER’S MARKET 
BY THE AMICALOLA REGIONAL FARMERS MARKET (ARFM) DURING THE 2024 SEASON 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• FIFTH SEASON OF RENTING THE SPACE FOR THE ARFM 
• OPENING DAY WILL BE SATURDAY APRIL 27, 2024 

       

    
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 STAFF RECOMMENDS APPROVAL OF THE AGREEMENT 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Bob Bolz, City Manager    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7b      
 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 6 
 

 FARMERS MARKET USE AGREEMENT 

This Farmers Market Use Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the “Agreement”) 

is entered into and effective this ____ day of ___________, 2024, by and between 

the CITY OF DAWSONVILLE (hereinafter referred to as “CITY”), a Georgia municipal 

corporation, and the DAWSON COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE, INC., a 

Georgia non-profit corporation, by and through its authorized committee the 

AMICALOLA REGIONAL FARMERS MARKET, (hereinafter referred to as 

“CHAMBER”) for the use of the CITY’s Farmers Market Pavilion located on Allen Street 

(hereinafter referred to as “the Pavilion”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto previously entered into a Farmers Market Use 

Agreement which has been renewed multiple times; and 

WHEREAS, as the use of the Pavilion for a Farmer’s Market has continued, the 

relationship between the parties for this purpose has evolved, and the parties have 

determined that this Agreement serves the best interest of all parties at this time. 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and 

obligations set forth herein and other good and valuable consideration mutually 

exchanged this date between parties hereto, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. Term of this Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective on execution 

by the parties and shall continue in full force and effect until terminated. The CHAMBER 

shall have use of the Pavilion as set forth hereinafter on “Scheduled Days” (as hereinafter 



 

Page 2 of 6 
 

defined) from April 27, 2024 until October 19, 2024.  This Agreement shall terminate 

after October 19, 2024, unless renewed by the parties in writing.    

2. Consideration. In consideration of the right to use the Pavilion to hold farmers 

markets on Scheduled Days, CHAMBER agrees to pay fifteen dollars ($15) per month to 

the CITY beginning April 27, 2024, and twenty dollars ($20) beginning June 29, 2024 

through the termination of this Agreement.  For the months of April and October, any 

permitted dates which are not utilized will result in pro-rated consideration under this 

Agreement.  “Scheduled Days” shall be as follows: 

 (a) Every Saturday beginning on April 27, 2024 through and including October 19, 

2024, from 8:00 AM until 2:00 PM (the market will close at 1:00 PM with the last hour 

for any needed clean-up). 

 (b) Every Wednesday beginning after June 15, 2024, through and including 

October 16, 2024, from 3:00 PM to 5:00 PM (or until sold out).   

(i) The foregoing notwithstanding, Chamber may elect in writing to 

delay the start of Wednesday Farmer’s Markets (during the month of 

June) by delivering notice in writing to the City at least five (5) days 

prior to the scheduled Wednesday use in June.   

(ii) The foregoing notwithstanding, upon ten (10) days advance notice 

the Chamber may elect to start Wednesday Farmer’s Markets as early 

as June 5, 2024, upon proper notice. 

4. Duties and Obligations of CITY. CITY shall provide use of the City’s Pavilion 

to the CHAMBER on each Schedule Day during the Term. Each vendor will be allocated 



 

Page 3 of 6 
 

approximately an 8’ wide by 20’ long space under the Pavilion. CITY hereby agrees to not 

allow any other farmers markets or individual vendors to sell products at the Pavilion or 

City Hall Complex on Scheduled Days when the CHAMBER’s Farmer’s Market is open. 

5. Duties and Obligations of CHAMBER. CHAMBER shall hold a Farmers 

Market at the Pavilion each Scheduled Day during the Term. On scheduled Saturdays, the 

Farmers Market shall not open for sales before 8:00 a.m. and shall end sales no later than 

1:00 PM. On scheduled Wednesdays the Farmers Market shall not open for sales before 

3:00 p.m. and shall end sales no later than 5:00 PM. CHAMBER shall be responsible for 

the policing, monitoring, and regulating products sold at each Farmers Market, as well as 

policing, monitoring, and regulating any vendors that CHAMBER allows to sell products 

at any occurrence of its Farmers Market. CHAMBER shall keep the Pavilion in a clean, 

neat, litter-free, and orderly condition, and shall be responsible for cleaning up after each 

use of the Pavilion. CHAMBER shall pick up any trash or debris left from the use of the 

Pavilion or sale of products, as well as return the Pavilion to the CITY in the condition it 

was found prior to use. CHAMBER shall not dispose, or allow any vendor to dispose of, 

any unsold merchandise on site or in on-site trash receptacles. At no time shall 

CHAMBER allow more than thirty (30) vendors to sell its products or merchandise at any 

occurrence of the Farmers Market. 

6.  Rights of City. CITY shall have the right to require CHAMBER to cease 

operations early on a Saturday due to conflicts in scheduling the use of the Pavilion. Other 

than for unanticipated or emergency conflicts, CITY agrees to notify CHAMBER three (3) 

weeks prior to the date that operations will need to be ceased early.   



 

Page 4 of 6 
 

7. Insurance and Indemnification. CHAMBER shall add the CITY as an 

additional insured to its existing liability insurance policy for all use of the Pavilion and 

agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold CITY, and its respective officers, directors, agents, 

and employees (together, the “Indemnified Parties”), harmless from any and all claims, 

suits, demands, debts, undertakings or proceedings of any kind or nature, whether 

meritorious or frivolous, in any way arising out of the CHAMBER’s use, or any of 

CHAMBER’s vendors uses, of the Pavilion, including liability caused in whole or in part 

by the Indemnified Parties. CHAMBER shall, at its own expense, appear, defend, and pay 

all attorneys’ fees and all costs, and other expenses arising therefrom or incurred in 

connection therewith; and, if any judgment shall be rendered against the Indemnified 

Parties in any such action, CHAMBER shall, at its own expense, satisfy and discharge the 

same. 

8. Binding Effect and Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be 

binding upon and inure to the benefit of both parties and their respective successors and 

assigns. If any provision of this Agreement or any application thereof shall be invalid or 

unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement and any other application of such 

provision shall not be affected thereby. 

9. Headings. The Section headings are for convenience and reference only and shall 

not be used to limit or otherwise affect the meaning of any provision of this Agreement. 

10. Counterparts. This Agreement may be simultaneously executed in two or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed a fully enforceable original but all of which 

together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 



 

Page 5 of 6 
 

11. Governing law, Venue and Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be construed 

in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Georgia. Both parties hereby 

consent to jurisdiction and venue in Dawson County, Georgia in any action brought to 

enforce any provision of this Agreement. 

12. Construction. All terms used in this Agreement, regardless of the number or 

gender in which they are used, shall be deemed and construed to include any other 

number, singular or plural, and by other gender, masculine, feminine, or neuter, as the 

context or sense of this Agreement or any section, subsection, or clause herein may 

require as if such terms had been fully and properly written in such number or gender. 

13. Modification. No changes, additions, or interlineations made to this Agreement 

shall be binding unless initialed by both parties. 

14. Non-waiver. No delay or failure by either party to exercise any right under this 

Agreement, and no partial or single exercise of that right, shall constitute a waiver of that 

or any other right, unless otherwise expressly provided herein. 

15. Entire Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all agreements previously made 

between the parties relating to its subject matter. There are no other understandings or 

agreements between them. 

  

[execution on following page]  



 

Page 6 of 6 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this instrument on 

the date(s) set forth below with an effective date of the last to sign.   

 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE  DAWSON COUNTY CHAMBER OF 
  COMMERCE, INC. 
 
 
___________________________  ___________________________ 
By: John Walden, Mayor  By: Mandy Power, CEO 
 
 
Date:________________  Date:__________________ 
 
 
Attest: 
 
__________________________  __________________________ 
Beverly A. Banister, Clerk  Secretary 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY LEASE AGREEMENTS 

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/04/2024    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

   TO REQUEST APPROVAL OF THE RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY LEASE AGREEMENTS FOR 
THE CITY’S RENTAL PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 224 FLAT CREEK DRIVE AND 557 HWY 9 
NORTH 

 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• 224 FLAT CREEK DRIVE RENEWAL TERM IS MAY 1, 2024 – APRIL 30, 2025.  AUTOMATICALLY 
RENEWABLE FOR TWO TERMS.  RECOMMENDED RENTAL FEE IS $750.00 PER MONTH 

 
• 557 HWY 9 NORTH – NEW RESIDENTIAL RENTAL PROPERTY: TERM WILL BE DETERMINED 

ONCE PROPERTY IS COMPLETE AND WILL BE A ONE YEAR TERM WITH TWO AUTOMATIC 
RENEWALS.  RECOMMENDED RENTAL FEE IS $800.00 PER MONTH. 
 

• CITY ATTORNEY REVIEWED AND APPROVED THE LEASES.    

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 STAFF RECOMMENDS APPROVAL AS PRESENTED 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7c     
 

 

 



Page 1 of 8 
 

LEASE AGREEMENT on RENTAL HOUSE 
 
 This Lease Agreement (“Lease”) is made and entered this ____ day of ______________, 
2024 by and between KIMBERLY COKER ("Tenant") and the CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
("Landlord") as follows. 

ARTICLE I 
DEMISE, DESCRIPTION, USE AND TERM 

 
Landlord leases to Tenant, and Tenant leases from Landlord, that certain real property 

with a residence at 224 Flat Creek Drive, Dawsonville, Dawson County, Georgia (the "Leased 
Premises" or “Premises”). 

 
 The Leased Premises shall be used for single-family residential purposes only. 
 
 The term of the lease shall be one year commencing on May 1, 2024 and ending on 
April 30, 2025, unless sooner terminated or extended as provided herein. The lease shall 
automatically renew year-to-year (every 12 months) for two (2) terms unless either Tenant or 
Landlord terminates the Lease by written notice to the other on or before 30 days before the end 
of each 12-month term.  

 
ARTICLE II 

RENT AND DEPOSITS 
 

A. RENT:  Tenant shall pay Landlord, during the term hereof, at the delivery address of 
415 Highway 53 East, Dawsonville, GA 30534, in monthly installments for the period as set forth 
above the total sum of $750.00 per month.  All rents set forth herein shall be deemed fully 
earned and wholly non-refundable when paid. 

 
Rent will be due and payable by the 1st day of every month without notice or demand, 

and if not actually received by the Landlord by the 10th of the month, the rental payment shall be 
late.  For any late payment received after the 10th of the month, Tenant shall pay to Landlord a 
penalty of five percent (5%) of the Rent due. Such penalty payment shall be due immediately 
and must be included with the payment of the past due Rent.  Rent shall be paid without offset 
or deduction of any kind or for any reason.  If the term shall commence or end on a date other 
than the 1st day of the calendar month, the monthly rent shall be prorated on a per diem basis 
with respect to such fractional calendar month and shall be paid on the day rent is first due 
hereunder. 
 

B. SECURITY DEPOSIT:  Tenant has paid pursuant to a prior iteration of this lease to 
Landlord a $750.00 Security Deposit.  Landlord shall hold the Security Deposit in a non-interest-
bearing account.  The deposit shall be refundable to Tenant at the end of the term of the lease, 
less any costs for any damages which have been caused by the Tenant.  Landlord shall have 
the right, but not the obligation, to apply the Security Deposit in whole or in part toward the 
payment of any unpaid rent or any other payment due pursuant to this lease including but not 
limited to fees for insurance, maintenance, utilities or repair.  Upon termination of this Lese, 
Tenant shall return the Premises to Landlord in “broom clean” undamaged condition, reasonable 
wear and tear excepted. 
  

ARTICLE III 
TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS 



Page 2 of 8 
 

 
 Landlord shall be responsible for the payment of real property taxes on the Property, if 
any.  Tenant shall be responsible for the payment and discharge of all personal property taxes, 
and other charges of every description which during the term of this Lease may be levied on or 
assessed against the Leased Premises and all interests therein and all improvements and other 
property thereto. 

ARTICLE IV 
LOSS OR DAMAGE TO THE LEASED PREMISES  

 
 A.  LANDLORD'S LIABILITY:  Landlord will not be liable for (1) any damage to Tenant's 
property by theft, casualty or otherwise, or (2) any personal injury or other property damage. 
 
 B.  INDEMNIFICATION OF LANDLORD:   Tenant will not do anything on the 
Leased Premises that may subject Landlord to any liability for damage to person or property or 
by reason of any violation of law.  Tenant will indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from all 
liability, and any other expense, due to (1) any breach of any covenant contained in this Lease 
to be performed by Tenant; (2) any alteration or other work performed by Tenant on the Leased 
Premises; and (3) any other personal injury or property damage occurring in or about the 
Leased Premises except as encompassed herein. 
 
 C.  RIGHT OF TERMINATION:  In the event of damage to the Leased Premises having 
the effect of rendering the intended use of the Leased Premises economically unviable for a 
period of more than 90 days, then either party hereto may terminate this Lease by giving such 
other party thirty (30) days written notice of such termination.  Events of damage or casualty 
which are expected to take less than 90 days to remedy shall not be grounds for termination, but 
shall be grounds for abatement of rental payments only during the time the property cannot be 
used for its intended purpose.  Should either party exercise its options to terminate the Lease, 
Tenant shall pay to Landlord all rent and other charges accrued as of the effective date of 
termination and neither party shall have any further obligations to the other except for any 
refunds of any excess in the pro-rata shares paid for any charges for the final year of this Lease. 
   

D.  PARTIAL DESTRUCTION:  In the event of any casualty, damage or destruction to the 
Leased Premises not resulting in termination of this Lease under the preceding paragraph, 
Landlord to the extent of any proceeds derived from any policy of insurance described herein 
shall commence to repair and rebuild the Leased Premises to substantially the condition which 
existed prior to such occurrence.  In the event such is an uninsured loss, the Landlord shall not 
be required to rebuild or repair same and rent shall partially abate and be payable in the 
percentage that the square footage of the Leased Premises immediately after such event bears 
to the square footage of the Leased Premises immediately prior to such event of casualty, 
damage or destruction.  Such abatement shall continue until such time as the Leased Premises 
is repaired to a substantially similar condition as existed prior to such event of casualty, damage 
or destruction as may be limited hereinabove. 

 
E. TENANT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOSS OR DAMAGE:  In no event shall Tenant 

have the right to terminate this Lease pursuant to this Article if any casualty, loss or damage is 
directly or indirectly attributable to the acts or omissions of Tenant. 
 

ARTICLE V 
UTILITIES 

 



Page 3 of 8 
 

 Tenant shall, during the term hereof, pay all charges for telephone, internet, gas, 
electricity, sewage, water, garbage and any other utilities or services used in or on the Leased 
Premises immediately on becoming due and shall hold Landlord harmless from any liability 
thereof. 

ARTICLE VI 
WASTE AND NUISANCE 

 
 Tenant shall not commit, nor suffer to be committed, any waste on the Leased Premises, 
nor shall it maintain, commit, or permit the maintenance or commission of any nuisance on the 
Leased Premises or use the Leased Premises for any unlawful purpose, nor shall Tenant permit 
the Leased Premises to be in violation of any regulation of any governmental body or authority. 
Tenant shall have no more than two (2) vehicles at any given time, for no more than a twenty 
four hour (24) consecutive period of time in the driveway of Leased Premises; unless special 
circumstances warrant it, including holidays, birthdays and any other acceptable dates approved 
by the Landlord. 

ARTICLE VII 
REPAIRS 

 
Tenant accepts the Leased Premises "as is."  In the event that any problem arises for 

any repair of a problem that Tenant believes is the responsibility of Landlord, Tenant shall 
promptly notify Landlord. 
 
 Tenant agrees to keep the Leased Premises in good order and repair, reasonable wear 
and tear excepted.  Tenant further agrees to keep the Leased Premises clean and free of trash, 
and to maintain the yard, landscaping, walkways, driveways, pavement and curbs in and about 
the Leased Premises.  If Tenant neglects or refuses to do such maintenance, Landlord may 
perform such work on behalf of Tenant and Tenant will promptly, on demand, reimburse 
Landlord for the cost of such work.   

 
ARTICLE VIII 

FIXTURES AND IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 Tenant shall have the right, if not in default, at any time, and from time to time during the 
term and any extended term hereof, at his sole cost and expense, to renovate and affix and 
install such property and equipment to, in or on the Leased Premises as he shall deem 
advisable, upon the written consent of the Landlord.  Any such fixtures, equipment and other 
property installed in or affixed to or on the Leased Premises shall remain the property of the 
Tenant, and Landlord agrees that Tenant shall have the right, if not in default, at any time, and 
from time to time, to remove any and all such fixtures, equipment and other property; provided, 
however, that Tenant shall return the Leased Premises to the condition prior to the installation of 
such fixtures, equipment or other property through any and all necessary repair or refurbishment 
and provided further that any such fixtures, equipment or property not removed from the Leased 
Premises within 30 days after expiration or sooner termination of the term or extended term 
hereof shall be deemed to have been abandoned by Tenant and shall thereupon become the 
absolute property of Landlord without compensation to Tenant. 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
QUIET POSSESSION 

 



Page 4 of 8 
 

 Landlord shall, on the commencement date of the term of this Lease as hereinabove set 
forth, place Tenant in quiet possession of the Leased Premises and shall secure him in the quiet 
possession thereof against all persons lawfully claiming the same during the entire lease term 
and each extension thereof. 

ARTICLE IX 
HOLD OVER BY TENANT AND RIGHT OF LANDLORD TO TERMINATE 

 
 Should Tenant hold over at the expiration of the Lease term, Tenant shall be deemed a 
Tenant at Will, leasing on a month-to-month basis.  The monthly rental during any such hold 
over period shall the monthly rental paid for the last month of this lease plus 50%, payable in 
advance on the first day of each month. 
 
 During any such hold over period, Landlord may terminate Tenant's tenancy at will upon 
30 days written notice to Tenant whereupon Tenant agrees to surrender possession of the 
Leased Premises to Landlord. 
 
 Tenant hereby agrees that during any such hold over period, all other Articles of this 
Agreement shall continue in full force and effect as during the initial term provided, only that 
right of termination and rental payments shall be governed by this Article X. 
 

ARTICLE X 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

 
 A.  DEFAULT:  The occurrence of any of the following events shall be deemed to be an 
event of default by Tenant under this Lease: 
  

 (1)  If any installment of minimum rent or any other charge or payment due to 
Landlord pursuant to the terms hereof is not paid to Landlord within ten (10) days after 
same becomes due. 

 
 (2)  Tenant shall fail to comply with any other term, provision, covenant or warranty 
made under this Lease by Tenant, and shall not cure such failure within (15) days after 
notice thereof to Tenant. 

 
 (3)  Tenant shall abandon or vacate all or any portion of the Premises or fail to 
take possession thereof as provided in this Lease, or use the Premises for a purpose not 
permitted by this Lease. 

 
 (4)  Tenant shall assign this Lease or sublet the Premises without Landlord's 
consent. 

 
 B.  LANDLORD'S RIGHTS ON DEFAULT:  Upon the occurrence of any of the aforesaid 
events of default, or upon the occurrence of any other default by Tenant under this Lease, 
Landlord shall have the option to pursue any one (l) or more of the following remedies without 
any notice or demand whatsoever: 
 

 (1)  Terminate this Lease, in which event Tenant shall immediately surrender the 
Premises to Landlord, and if Tenant fails to do so, Landlord may, without prejudice to any 
other remedy which it may have for possession or arrearage in rent, enter upon and take 
possession of the Premises and expel or remove Tenant and any other person who may 



Page 5 of 8 
 

be occupying said Premises or any part thereof, without being liable for prosecution or 
any claim of damages therefor, Tenant hereby agreeing to pay to Landlord on demand 
the amount of all loss and damage which Landlord may suffer by reason of such 
termination, whether through inability to re-let the Premises on satisfactory terms or 
otherwise. 

 
 (2)  Enter upon and take possession of the Premises and expel or remove Tenant 
and any other person who may be occupying said Premises or any part thereof, by force, 
if necessary, without being liable for prosecution of any claim for damages therefor, and if 
Landlord so elects, re-let the Premises on such terms as Landlord may deem advisable 
and receive the rent therefor, Tenant hereby agreeing to pay to Landlord on demand any 
deficiency between the rent hereunder and the avails of such re-letting. 

 
 (3)  Landlord may do whatever Tenant is obligated to do by the terms of this Lease 
and seek reimbursement therefore if applicable. 

 
 C.  EXPRESS WAIVER:  The failure of Landlord to insist upon the Tenant's strict 
performance of any term, condition or covenant herein contained, shall not be deemed a waiver 
of any rights or remedies that such party may have, and shall not be deemed a waiver of any 
subsequent breach or default by that party in the performance of the terms, conditions and 
covenants herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing any acceptance by Landlord of a payment of 
rent shall not constitute a waiver of any other default, regardless of notice by Landlord of any 
such other default at the time of acceptance of such payment of rent. 
 
 D.  REMEDIES:  Pursuit by Landlord of any of the foregoing remedies shall not preclude 
pursuit of any other remedy herein provided or any other remedy provided by law or at equity, 
nor shall pursuit by Landlord of any remedy herein provided constitute (i) an election of 
remedies thereby excluding the later election of an alternate remedy, or (ii) forfeiture or waiver 
of any rent or other charges and assessments payable by Tenant and due to Landlord 
hereunder or of any damages accruing to Landlord by reason of the violation of any of the 
terms, covenants, warranties and provisions herein contained.  No action taken by or on behalf 
of the Landlord shall be construed to be an acceptance of a surrender of this Lease.  
Forbearance by the Landlord to enforce one or more of the remedies herein provided upon an 
event of default shall not be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of such default.  In 
determining the amount of loss or damage which Landlord may suffer by reason of termination 
of this Lease or the deficiency arising by reason by any re-letting of the Premises by Landlord as 
above provided, allowance shall be made for expense of repossession and any repairs or 
remodeling undertaken by Landlord following repossession, together with additional brokerage 
fees, if any.  In the event that any action or proceeding is brought to enforce any term, covenant 
or condition of this Lease on the part of Landlord or Tenant, the prevailing party in such litigation 
shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney’s fees to be fixed by the court in such action or 
proceeding.   
 
 E.  CHECK CHARGES:  Landlord shall charge of fee of $25 for any check for rent 
returned for insufficient funds. Such charges shall be due on Landlord's demand and are in 
addition to other default rights and remedies of Landlord.  
 

ARTICLE XII 
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING 

 



Page 6 of 8 
 

 Tenant shall not, either voluntarily or by operation of law, assign, or transfer this Lease, 
or sublet the Leased Premises or any part thereof, or permit the Premises or any part thereof to 
be used for any purpose which would violate Article I above, without the prior written consent of 
Landlord in each instance.  Any assignment, or subletting of this Lease or the Premises or any 
part hereof or thereof which is not in compliance with the provisions of this Article XIII shall be 
void and shall, at the option of the Landlord, terminate this Lease.  The consent by Landlord to 
an assignment or subletting shall not be construed as relieving Tenant from obtaining the 
express written consent of Landlord to any further assignment or subletting or as releasing 
Tenant from any liability or obligation hereunder, whether or not then accrued. 
 

ARTICLE XII 
ACCESS BY LANDLORD 

 
 Landlord and its agents shall have the right to enter the Leased Premises at all 
reasonable times for the purpose of examining or inspecting the same, showing the same to 
prospective purchasers or tenants of the Premises, and making such alterations, repairs, 
improvements or additions to the Premises or the building of which they are a part as Landlord 
may deem necessary or desirable, whether or not required of Landlord hereunder.  During the 
last three (3) months of the term, Landlord shall have the right to place upon the Premises “For 
Sale” or “For Rent” notice and signs that Tenant shall permit to remain thereon without 
interference. 

ARTICLE XIII 
SURRENDER OF PREMISES 

 
 At the termination of this Lease, Tenant shall surrender the Premises to Landlord in the 
condition to enable Landlord to immediately market the Premises for rent or sale. All areas of 
the Leased Premises shall be clean and free of rubbish, and the property shall be returned in 
the same condition it was leased, reasonable wear and tear excepted. 
 

ARTICLE XIV 
NOTICES 

 
 Any notice required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and may be 
given by personal delivery or by certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, 
addressed to Tenant or to Landlord at the address noted beside the signature of the respective 
parties, as the case may be, and shall be deemed given and received on the date delivered or 
mailed.  Either party may, by notice to the other, specify a different address for notice purposes.  
Upon Tenant's occupancy of the Leased Premises, either the Leased Premises or the address 
stated below shall constitute the Tenant's address for notice purposes, and a notice to either 
address shall be valid notice to Tenant.   
 

ARTICLE XV 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
 A.  TIME OF ESSENCE:  Each of Tenant's covenants herein is a condition and time is of 
the essence with respect to the performance of every provision of this Lease, and the strict 
performance of each shall be a condition precedent to Tenant's rights to remain in possession of 
the Premises or to have this Lease continue in effect. 
 



Page 7 of 8 
 

 B.  PARTIAL INVALIDITY:  Any provision of this Lease which shall prove to be invalid, 
void or illegal shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate any other provision hereof, and such 
other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 C.  DAMAGE OR THEFT OF PERSONAL PROPERTY:  All personal property brought 
into the Leased Premises by Tenant or Tenant's invitees shall be at the risk of Tenant only, and 
Landlord shall not be liable for theft thereof or any damage thereto occasioned from any act of 
co-Tenants, occupants, invitees or other users of the Leased Premises, or any person.  Tenant 
shall be responsible, at Tenant's expense, to carry such insurance against such risks as Tenant 
deems appropriate.   
 
 D.  LANDLORD WARRANTY:  The Landlord has not warranted that the Leased 
Premises is fit for any particular purpose and Tenant either under this Lease accepts the 
premises in an "as is" condition.  Further, Tenant represents, acknowledges and warrants that 
Tenant has had ample time to review the subject premises prior to the execution of this Lease 
Agreement and is satisfied with said condition of the premises. 
 
 E.  WAIVER:  No waiver by Landlord of any provision of this Lease shall be deemed to be 
a waiver of any other provision hereof or of any subsequent breach by Tenant of the same or 
any other provision.  Landlord's consent to or approval of any act by Tenant shall not be 
deemed to render unnecessary the obtaining of Landlord's consent to or approval of any 
subsequent act.  No agreement to accept Tenant's surrender of the Leased Premises shall be 
valid unless in writing and signed by Landlord.  No employee of Landlord or of Landlord's agents 
shall have any power to accept the keys to the Premises prior to the termination of this Lease 
and the delivery of the keys to any such employee shall not operate as a termination of the 
Lease or surrender of the Leased Premises. 
 
 F.  SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS:  Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, all of 
the covenants, conditions and provisions of this Lease shall be binding upon and shall inure to 
the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns. 
 
 G.  HEADINGS; LANDLORD AND TENANT:  The article and section captions contained 
in this Lease are for convenience only and do not in any way limit or amplify any term or 
provision hereof.  The terms "Landlord" and "Tenant", as used herein, shall include the plural as 
well as the singular, the neuter shall include the masculine and feminine genders. 
 
 H.  NO ESTATE BY TENANT:  This Lease shall create the relationship of Landlord and 
Tenant between Landlord and Tenant.  No estate shall pass out of Landlord, and this Lease 
shall not be subject to levy and/or sale and shall not be assignable by Tenant except as 
provided in Article XIII hereof. 
 
 I.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Lease constitutes the entire agreement between the 
parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and no prior agreement or 
understanding with regard to any such matter will be effective for any purpose.  No provision of 
this Lease may be amended or added to except by an agreement in writing signed by the 
parties hereto or their respective successors-in-interest. 
 
  J.  BROKERS:  Tenant warrants that no broker, finder or real estate agent has had any 
involvement or participation in the negotiation or procurement of this Lease, nor has Tenant 



Page 8 of 8 
 

used or engaged any broker, agent or finder with respect to this Lease.  Tenant will indemnify 
and hold Landlord harmless from and against any claims of any broker, agent or finder against 
Landlord or any loss or cost as a result of the claim or demands any broker, agent or finder with 
respect to this Lease. 

 K. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS:  The parties are executing this Lease voluntarily and without 
any duress or undue influence. The parties have carefully read this Lease and have asked any 
questions needed to understand its terms, consequences, and binding effect and fully 
understand them and have been given an executed copy. 

 L.  GOVERNING LAW:  This Lease shall be interpreted under and governed by the laws 
of the State of Georgia. 
 
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Tenant and Landlord have duly signed, sealed and delivered 
this Lease as of the date above written.  

 
Signed, sealed and delivered this _______  TENANT:  
day of _________2024, in the presence of: 
 
____________________________          
Notary Signature                    [Seal]   Signature  
 
 
        By:__KIMBERLY COKER___________ 
 
____________________________   Its:    TENANT     
Witness 
 Mailing Address for Tenant: 
        
 
Signed, sealed and delivered this _____   LANDLORD: 
day of _______2024, in the presence of:            
  
____________________________          
Notary Signature                    [Seal]   Signature  
      
 
        By:__John Walden_________________ 
 
____________________________   Its: __MAYOR    
Witness  
        Address for Landlord: 
        415 HWY 53 East, Suite 100   
        Dawsonville, GA  30534    



1 
 

LEASE AGREEMENT on RENTAL HOUSE 
 
 This Lease Agreement (“Lease”) is made and entered this ____ day of ______________, 
2021 by and between _Annette Watson_______("Tenant") and the CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
("Landlord") as follows. 

ARTICLE I 
DEMISE, DESCRIPTION, USE AND TERM 

 
Landlord leases to Tenant, and Tenant leases from Landlord, that certain real property 

with a residence at  557 Hwy 9 N_______, Dawsonville, Dawson County, Georgia (the "Leased 
Premises" or “Premises”). 

 
 The Leased Premises shall be used for single-family residential purposes only. 
 
 The term of the lease shall be one year commencing on ____________ and ending on      
_________________, unless sooner terminated or extended as provided herein. The lease shall 
automatically renew year-to-year (every 12 months) for two (2) terms unless either Tenant or 
Landlord terminates the Lease by written notice to the other on or before 30 days before the end 
of each 12-month term.  

 
ARTICLE II 

RENT AND DEPOSITS 
 

A. RENT:  Tenant shall pay Landlord, during the term hereof, at the delivery address of 
415 Highway 53 East, Dawsonville, GA 30534, in monthly installments for the period as set forth 
above the total sum of $800.00__per month.  All rents set forth herein shall be deemed fully 
earned and wholly non-refundable when paid. 

 
Rent will be due and payable by the 1st day of every month without notice or demand, 

and if not actually received by the Landlord by the 10th of the month, the rental payment shall be 
late.  For any late payment received after the 10th of the month, Tenant shall pay to Landlord a 
penalty of five percent (5%) of the Rent due. Such penalty payment shall be due immediately 
and must be included with the payment of the past due Rent.  Rent shall be paid without offset 
or deduction of any kind or for any reason.  If the term shall commence or end on a date other 
than the 1st day of the calendar month, the monthly rent shall be prorated on a per diem basis 
with respect to such fractional calendar month and shall be paid on the day rent is first due 
hereunder. 
 

B. SECURITY DEPOSIT:  Tenant has paid pursuant to a prior iteration of this lease to 
Landlord a $_____________Security Deposit.  Landlord shall hold the Security Deposit in a 
non-interest-bearing account.  The deposit shall be refundable to Tenant at the end of the term 
of the lease, less any costs for any damages which have been caused by the Tenant.  Landlord 
shall have the right, but not the obligation, to apply the Security Deposit in whole or in part 
toward the payment of any unpaid rent or any other payment due pursuant to this lease 
including but not limited to fees for insurance, maintenance, utilities or repair.  Upon termination 
of this Lese, Tenant shall return the Premises to Landlord in “broom clean” undamaged 
condition, reasonable wear and tear excepted. 
  

 
 



Page 2 of 8 
 

ARTICLE III 
TAXES AND ASSESSMENTS 

 
 Landlord shall be responsible for the payment of real property taxes on the Property, if 
any.  Tenant shall be responsible for the payment and discharge of all personal property taxes, 
and other charges of every description which during the term of this Lease may be levied on or 
assessed against the Leased Premises and all interests therein and all improvements and other 
property thereto. 

ARTICLE IV 
LOSS OR DAMAGE TO THE LEASED PREMISES  

 
 A.  LANDLORD'S LIABILITY:  Landlord will not be liable for (1) any damage to Tenant's 
property by theft, casualty or otherwise, or (2) any personal injury or other property damage. 
 
 B.  INDEMNIFICATION OF LANDLORD:   Tenant will not do anything on the 
Leased Premises that may subject Landlord to any liability for damage to person or property or 
by reason of any violation of law.  Tenant will indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from all 
liability, and any other expense, due to (1) any breach of any covenant contained in this Lease 
to be performed by Tenant; (2) any alteration or other work performed by Tenant on the Leased 
Premises; and (3) any other personal injury or property damage occurring in or about the 
Leased Premises except as encompassed herein. 
 
 C.  RIGHT OF TERMINATION:  In the event of damage to the Leased Premises having 
the effect of rendering the intended use of the Leased Premises economically unviable for a 
period of more than 90 days, then either party hereto may terminate this Lease by giving such 
other party thirty (30) days written notice of such termination.  Events of damage or casualty 
which are expected to take less than 90 days to remedy shall not be grounds for termination, but 
shall be grounds for abatement of rental payments only during the time the property cannot be 
used for its intended purpose.  Should either party exercise its options to terminate the Lease, 
Tenant shall pay to Landlord all rent and other charges accrued as of the effective date of 
termination and neither party shall have any further obligations to the other except for any 
refunds of any excess in the pro-rata shares paid for any charges for the final year of this Lease. 
   

D.  PARTIAL DESTRUCTION:  In the event of any casualty, damage or destruction to the 
Leased Premises not resulting in termination of this Lease under the preceding paragraph, 
Landlord to the extent of any proceeds derived from any policy of insurance described herein 
shall commence to repair and rebuild the Leased Premises to substantially the condition which 
existed prior to such occurrence.  In the event such is an uninsured loss, the Landlord shall not 
be required to rebuild or repair same and rent shall partially abate and be payable in the 
percentage that the square footage of the Leased Premises immediately after such event bears 
to the square footage of the Leased Premises immediately prior to such event of casualty, 
damage or destruction.  Such abatement shall continue until such time as the Leased Premises 
is repaired to a substantially similar condition as existed prior to such event of casualty, damage 
or destruction as may be limited hereinabove. 

 
E. TENANT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOSS OR DAMAGE:  In no event shall Tenant 

have the right to terminate this Lease pursuant to this Article if any casualty, loss or damage is 
directly or indirectly attributable to the acts or omissions of Tenant. 
 

ARTICLE V 



Page 3 of 8 
 

UTILITIES 
 
 Tenant shall, during the term hereof, pay all charges for telephone, internet, gas, 
electricity, sewage, water, garbage and any other utilities or services used in or on the Leased 
Premises immediately on becoming due and shall hold Landlord harmless from any liability 
thereof. 

ARTICLE VI 
WASTE AND NUISANCE 

 
 Tenant shall not commit, nor suffer to be committed, any waste on the Leased Premises, 
nor shall it maintain, commit, or permit the maintenance or commission of any nuisance on the 
Leased Premises or use the Leased Premises for any unlawful purpose, nor shall Tenant permit 
the Leased Premises to be in violation of any regulation of any governmental body or authority. 
Tenant shall have no more than two (2) vehicles at any given time, for no more than a twenty 
four hour (24) consecutive period of time in the driveway of Leased Premises; unless special 
circumstances warrant it, including holidays, birthdays and any other acceptable dates approved 
by the Landlord. 

ARTICLE VII 
REPAIRS 

 
Tenant accepts the Leased Premises "as is."  In the event that any problem arises for 

any repair of a problem that Tenant believes is the responsibility of Landlord, Tenant shall 
promptly notify Landlord. 
 
 Tenant agrees to keep the Leased Premises in good order and repair, reasonable wear 
and tear excepted.  Tenant further agrees to keep the Leased Premises clean and free of trash, 
and to maintain the yard, landscaping, walkways, driveways, pavement and curbs in and about 
the Leased Premises.  If Tenant neglects or refuses to do such maintenance, Landlord may 
perform such work on behalf of Tenant and Tenant will promptly, on demand, reimburse 
Landlord for the cost of such work.   

 
ARTICLE VIII 

FIXTURES AND IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 Tenant shall have the right, if not in default, at any time, and from time to time during the 
term and any extended term hereof, at his sole cost and expense, to renovate and affix and 
install such property and equipment to, in or on the Leased Premises as he shall deem 
advisable, upon the written consent of the Landlord.  Any such fixtures, equipment and other 
property installed in or affixed to or on the Leased Premises shall remain the property of the 
Tenant, and Landlord agrees that Tenant shall have the right, if not in default, at any time, and 
from time to time, to remove any and all such fixtures, equipment and other property; provided, 
however, that Tenant shall return the Leased Premises to the condition prior to the installation of 
such fixtures, equipment or other property through any and all necessary repair or refurbishment 
and provided further that any such fixtures, equipment or property not removed from the Leased 
Premises within 30 days after expiration or sooner termination of the term or extended term 
hereof shall be deemed to have been abandoned by Tenant and shall thereupon become the 
absolute property of Landlord without compensation to Tenant. 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
QUIET POSSESSION 



Page 4 of 8 
 

 
 Landlord shall, on the commencement date of the term of this Lease as hereinabove set 
forth, place Tenant in quiet possession of the Leased Premises and shall secure him in the quiet 
possession thereof against all persons lawfully claiming the same during the entire lease term 
and each extension thereof. 

ARTICLE IX 
HOLD OVER BY TENANT AND RIGHT OF LANDLORD TO TERMINATE 

 
 Should Tenant hold over at the expiration of the Lease term, Tenant shall be deemed a 
Tenant at Will, leasing on a month-to-month basis.  The monthly rental during any such hold 
over period shall the monthly rental paid for the last month of this lease plus 50%, payable in 
advance on the first day of each month. 
 
 During any such hold over period, Landlord may terminate Tenant's tenancy at will upon 
30 days written notice to Tenant whereupon Tenant agrees to surrender possession of the 
Leased Premises to Landlord. 
 
 Tenant hereby agrees that during any such hold over period, all other Articles of this 
Agreement shall continue in full force and effect as during the initial term provided, only that 
right of termination and rental payments shall be governed by this Article X. 
 

ARTICLE X 
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

 
 A.  DEFAULT:  The occurrence of any of the following events shall be deemed to be an 
event of default by Tenant under this Lease: 
  

 (1)  If any installment of minimum rent or any other charge or payment due to 
Landlord pursuant to the terms hereof is not paid to Landlord within ten (10) days after 
same becomes due. 

 
 (2)  Tenant shall fail to comply with any other term, provision, covenant or warranty 
made under this Lease by Tenant, and shall not cure such failure within (15) days after 
notice thereof to Tenant. 

 
 (3)  Tenant shall abandon or vacate all or any portion of the Premises or fail to 
take possession thereof as provided in this Lease, or use the Premises for a purpose not 
permitted by this Lease. 

 
 (4)  Tenant shall assign this Lease or sublet the Premises without Landlord's 
consent. 

 
 B.  LANDLORD'S RIGHTS ON DEFAULT:  Upon the occurrence of any of the aforesaid 
events of default, or upon the occurrence of any other default by Tenant under this Lease, 
Landlord shall have the option to pursue any one (l) or more of the following remedies without 
any notice or demand whatsoever: 
 

 (1)  Terminate this Lease, in which event Tenant shall immediately surrender the 
Premises to Landlord, and if Tenant fails to do so, Landlord may, without prejudice to any 
other remedy which it may have for possession or arrearage in rent, enter upon and take 



Page 5 of 8 
 

possession of the Premises and expel or remove Tenant and any other person who may 
be occupying said Premises or any part thereof, without being liable for prosecution or 
any claim of damages therefor, Tenant hereby agreeing to pay to Landlord on demand 
the amount of all loss and damage which Landlord may suffer by reason of such 
termination, whether through inability to re-let the Premises on satisfactory terms or 
otherwise. 

 
 (2)  Enter upon and take possession of the Premises and expel or remove Tenant 
and any other person who may be occupying said Premises or any part thereof, by force, 
if necessary, without being liable for prosecution of any claim for damages therefor, and if 
Landlord so elects, re-let the Premises on such terms as Landlord may deem advisable 
and receive the rent therefor, Tenant hereby agreeing to pay to Landlord on demand any 
deficiency between the rent hereunder and the avails of such re-letting. 

 
 (3)  Landlord may do whatever Tenant is obligated to do by the terms of this Lease 
and seek reimbursement therefore if applicable. 

 
 C.  EXPRESS WAIVER:  The failure of Landlord to insist upon the Tenant's strict 
performance of any term, condition or covenant herein contained, shall not be deemed a waiver 
of any rights or remedies that such party may have, and shall not be deemed a waiver of any 
subsequent breach or default by that party in the performance of the terms, conditions and 
covenants herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing any acceptance by Landlord of a payment of 
rent shall not constitute a waiver of any other default, regardless of notice by Landlord of any 
such other default at the time of acceptance of such payment of rent. 
 
 D.  REMEDIES:  Pursuit by Landlord of any of the foregoing remedies shall not preclude 
pursuit of any other remedy herein provided or any other remedy provided by law or at equity, 
nor shall pursuit by Landlord of any remedy herein provided constitute (i) an election of 
remedies thereby excluding the later election of an alternate remedy, or (ii) forfeiture or waiver 
of any rent or other charges and assessments payable by Tenant and due to Landlord 
hereunder or of any damages accruing to Landlord by reason of the violation of any of the 
terms, covenants, warranties and provisions herein contained.  No action taken by or on behalf 
of the Landlord shall be construed to be an acceptance of a surrender of this Lease.  
Forbearance by the Landlord to enforce one or more of the remedies herein provided upon an 
event of default shall not be deemed or construed to constitute a waiver of such default.  In 
determining the amount of loss or damage which Landlord may suffer by reason of termination 
of this Lease or the deficiency arising by reason by any re-letting of the Premises by Landlord as 
above provided, allowance shall be made for expense of repossession and any repairs or 
remodeling undertaken by Landlord following repossession, together with additional brokerage 
fees, if any.  In the event that any action or proceeding is brought to enforce any term, covenant 
or condition of this Lease on the part of Landlord or Tenant, the prevailing party in such litigation 
shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney’s fees to be fixed by the court in such action or 
proceeding.   
 
 E.  CHECK CHARGES:  Landlord shall charge of fee of $25 for any check for rent 
returned for insufficient funds. Such charges shall be due on Landlord's demand and are in 
addition to other default rights and remedies of Landlord.  
 

ARTICLE XII 
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING 



Page 6 of 8 
 

 
 Tenant shall not, either voluntarily or by operation of law, assign, or transfer this Lease, 
or sublet the Leased Premises or any part thereof, or permit the Premises or any part thereof to 
be used for any purpose which would violate Article I above, without the prior written consent of 
Landlord in each instance.  Any assignment, or subletting of this Lease or the Premises or any 
part hereof or thereof which is not in compliance with the provisions of this Article XIII shall be 
void and shall, at the option of the Landlord, terminate this Lease.  The consent by Landlord to 
an assignment or subletting shall not be construed as relieving Tenant from obtaining the 
express written consent of Landlord to any further assignment or subletting or as releasing 
Tenant from any liability or obligation hereunder, whether or not then accrued. 
 

ARTICLE XII 
ACCESS BY LANDLORD 

 
 Landlord and its agents shall have the right to enter the Leased Premises at all 
reasonable times for the purpose of examining or inspecting the same, showing the same to 
prospective purchasers or tenants of the Premises, and making such alterations, repairs, 
improvements or additions to the Premises or the building of which they are a part as Landlord 
may deem necessary or desirable, whether or not required of Landlord hereunder.  During the 
last three (3) months of the term, Landlord shall have the right to place upon the Premises “For 
Sale” or “For Rent” notice and signs that Tenant shall permit to remain thereon without 
interference. 

ARTICLE XIII 
SURRENDER OF PREMISES 

 
 At the termination of this Lease, Tenant shall surrender the Premises to Landlord in the 
condition to enable Landlord to immediately market the Premises for rent or sale. All areas of 
the Leased Premises shall be clean and free of rubbish, and the property shall be returned in 
the same condition it was leased, reasonable wear and tear excepted. 
 

ARTICLE XIV 
NOTICES 

 
 Any notice required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and may be 
given by personal delivery or by certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, 
addressed to Tenant or to Landlord at the address noted beside the signature of the respective 
parties, as the case may be, and shall be deemed given and received on the date delivered or 
mailed.  Either party may, by notice to the other, specify a different address for notice purposes.  
Upon Tenant's occupancy of the Leased Premises, either the Leased Premises or the address 
stated below shall constitute the Tenant's address for notice purposes, and a notice to either 
address shall be valid notice to Tenant.   
 

ARTICLE XV 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
 A.  TIME OF ESSENCE:  Each of Tenant's covenants herein is a condition and time is of 
the essence with respect to the performance of every provision of this Lease, and the strict 
performance of each shall be a condition precedent to Tenant's rights to remain in possession of 
the Premises or to have this Lease continue in effect. 
 



Page 7 of 8 
 

 B.  PARTIAL INVALIDITY:  Any provision of this Lease which shall prove to be invalid, 
void or illegal shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate any other provision hereof, and such 
other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 C.  DAMAGE OR THEFT OF PERSONAL PROPERTY:  All personal property brought 
into the Leased Premises by Tenant or Tenant's invitees shall be at the risk of Tenant only, and 
Landlord shall not be liable for theft thereof or any damage thereto occasioned from any act of 
co-Tenants, occupants, invitees or other users of the Leased Premises, or any person.  Tenant 
shall be responsible, at Tenant's expense, to carry such insurance against such risks as Tenant 
deems appropriate.   
 
 D.  LANDLORD WARRANTY:  The Landlord has not warranted that the Leased 
Premises is fit for any particular purpose and Tenant either under this Lease accepts the 
premises in an "as is" condition.  Further, Tenant represents, acknowledges and warrants that 
Tenant has had ample time to review the subject premises prior to the execution of this Lease 
Agreement and is satisfied with said condition of the premises. 
 
 E.  WAIVER:  No waiver by Landlord of any provision of this Lease shall be deemed to be 
a waiver of any other provision hereof or of any subsequent breach by Tenant of the same or 
any other provision.  Landlord's consent to or approval of any act by Tenant shall not be 
deemed to render unnecessary the obtaining of Landlord's consent to or approval of any 
subsequent act.  No agreement to accept Tenant's surrender of the Leased Premises shall be 
valid unless in writing and signed by Landlord.  No employee of Landlord or of Landlord's agents 
shall have any power to accept the keys to the Premises prior to the termination of this Lease 
and the delivery of the keys to any such employee shall not operate as a termination of the 
Lease or surrender of the Leased Premises. 
 
 F.  SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS:  Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, all of 
the covenants, conditions and provisions of this Lease shall be binding upon and shall inure to 
the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, executors, 
administrators, successors and assigns. 
 
 G.  HEADINGS; LANDLORD AND TENANT:  The article and section captions contained 
in this Lease are for convenience only and do not in any way limit or amplify any term or 
provision hereof.  The terms "Landlord" and "Tenant", as used herein, shall include the plural as 
well as the singular, the neuter shall include the masculine and feminine genders. 
 
 H.  NO ESTATE BY TENANT:  This Lease shall create the relationship of Landlord and 
Tenant between Landlord and Tenant.  No estate shall pass out of Landlord, and this Lease 
shall not be subject to levy and/or sale and shall not be assignable by Tenant except as 
provided in Article XIII hereof. 
 
 I.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Lease constitutes the entire agreement between the 
parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and no prior agreement or 
understanding with regard to any such matter will be effective for any purpose.  No provision of 
this Lease may be amended or added to except by an agreement in writing signed by the 
parties hereto or their respective successors-in-interest. 
 
  J.  BROKERS:  Tenant warrants that no broker, finder or real estate agent has had any 
involvement or participation in the negotiation or procurement of this Lease, nor has Tenant 



Page 8 of 8 
 

used or engaged any broker, agent or finder with respect to this Lease.  Tenant will indemnify 
and hold Landlord harmless from and against any claims of any broker, agent or finder against 
Landlord or any loss or cost as a result of the claim or demands any broker, agent or finder with 
respect to this Lease. 

 K. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS:  The parties are executing this Lease voluntarily and without 
any duress or undue influence. The parties have carefully read this Lease and have asked any 
questions needed to understand its terms, consequences, and binding effect and fully 
understand them and have been given an executed copy. 

 L.  GOVERNING LAW:  This Lease shall be interpreted under and governed by the laws 
of the State of Georgia. 
 
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Tenant and Landlord have duly signed, sealed and delivered 
this Lease as of the date above written.  

 
Signed, sealed and delivered this _______  TENANT:  
day of _________,______, in the presence of: 
 
____________________________          
Notary Signature                    [Seal]   Signature  
 
 
        By:___Annette Watson____________  
 
____________________________   Its:    TENANT     
Witness 
 Mailing Address for Tenant: 
        
 
Signed, sealed and delivered this _____   LANDLORD: 
day of _______, _______, in the presence of:            
  
____________________________          
Notary Signature                    [Seal]   Signature  
      
 
        By:____John Walden________________ 
 
____________________________   Its: __MAYOR    
Witness  
        Address for Landlord: 
        415 HWY 53 East, Suite 100   
        Dawsonville, GA  30534    



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE CONTRACTS FOR AWARDED BIDS CONCERNING UPGRADES AT 

THE DAWSONVILLE HISTORY MUSUEM  
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/04/2024  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    
TO REQUEST APPROVAL OF THE CONTRACTS AWARDED FOR BIDS CONCERNING 

UPGRADES AT THE DAWSONVILLE HISTORY MUSEUM  
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• BID #24-RFB-005 AWARDED TO WINDSOR PINE ON 02/05/2024 IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$107,280.00. 

• BID #24-RFB-006 AWARDED TO THE WH PLATTS CO ON 02/05/2024 IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$62,358.98 

• BID #24-RFB-007 AWARDED TO ATLANTA HOME THEATER ON 02/19/2024 IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $207,886.00. 

• ATTORNEY TALLANT PREPARED THE CONTRACTS 
• FUNDING SOURCE: ONEGEORGIA SPECIAL PURPOSE GRANT  

 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Robin Gazaway, Finance Director 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7d     
 

 

 



 
 

1 

CONTRACT 
 
 
City:   The City of Dawsonville Georgia 

415 Highway 53 East 
Dawsonville, Georgia 30534 

 
 
Contractor:  Windsor Pine, LLC 
  125 P. Rickman Industrial Drive 
  Canton, Georgia 30115 

 
WHEREAS the City of Dawsonville, (the “City”) has determined to proceed with the 
Purchase and Installation of 50’s Garage Store Front (hereinafter “Project”) which was 
released either for bid or for proposals, the documents related to such bid or proposal 
being attached hereto as Exhibit “A”; 

WHEREAS Windsor Pine, LLC, (hereinafter referred to as “Contractor”) placed a 
Bid/Proposal on the Project or submitted a proposal for the project, and was selected by 
the City for the completion of the Project; 

WHEREAS Contractor agreed to perform the work on the Project to the specifications 
presented in Exhibit “A” as per Contractor’s submittal shown in Exhibit “B”; 

AND WHEREAS the City has awarded the Contract on the Project to Contractor. 

NOW THEREFORE, having determined that Contractor and the City desire to enter into 
an agreement for the Project, both parties do hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

PURPOSE OF CONTRACT AND PAYMENT 

Section 1) That in consideration of the promises of City set forth below, Contractor 
agrees to provide all materials, equipment and labor for the services described in 
Exhibits A and B. 

Section 2) That in consideration of the promises of the Contractor set forth in this 
Contract, the City agrees to pay to Contractor remittances for services performed 
under the terms of this Contract as those funds are received by the City pursuant to 
that certain One-Georgia Grant which the City was awarded, subject to the inspection 
and progress requirements described more fully below.  However, the total amount to 
be paid to Contractor under the terms of this Contract shall not exceed one hundred 
seven thousand two hundred eighty and 00/100s ($107,280.00) without written 
approved change orders or contract amendments executed by both City and 
Contractor.  (said sum hereinafter referred to as the “Contract Price”). 

Section 3) On a monthly basis, Contractor shall submit a payment invoice describing 
work completed during the previous thirty (30) days and requesting payment for said 



 
 

2 

work less a five percent (5%) retainage.  Following inspection and approval of the 
work reflected on the payment invoice, the City will make payment to the Contractor 
within ten (10) days of the City receiving funds from the State of Georgia pursuant to 
the One Georgia Grant awarded to the City which grant funds are intended and 
purposed for the payment of the Project.  Upon final inspection, approval of the 
completed work, a determination that there is no need to withhold funds for damages, 
contract completion, or liquidated damages, acceptance of the project, and receipt of 
funds from the State of Georgia as described herein, the City will forward payment of 
the remaining five percent (5%) retainage to Contractor. 

 

SPECIFICATIONS FOR COMPLETION 

Section 4) The improvements shall be made and completed in all things in accordance 
with the plans and specifications contained in Exhibits A and B, which plans and 
specifications are referred to and made a part of this contract to the same extent as if 
they were specifically set forth.   

Section 5) All of the work and labor performed under this contract shall be performed, 
and all of the material furnished shall be, in strict conformity with the plans and 
specifications, and Contractor accepts and consents to the conditions contained in the 
plans and specifications and expressly agrees to comply with every requirement and 
stipulation contained in them to be performed by the party contracting to do the work. 
The Mayor and Council or their designee shall decide every question that can or may 
arise between the parties relative to the construction of this contract and to its 
performance, including all questions as to the quality, quantity, amount, and prices of 
the several kinds of work that may be performed or material furnished under this 
contract, and this determination shall be conclusive upon the parties.  In the event 
Contractor shall violate any of the provisions of this contract, the City shall ascertain 
and determine the amount of damages resulting from the violation, which 
determination shall be conclusive, and Contractor shall pay to the City the amount of 
damages as ascertained and determined. 

Section 6) The City reserves the right to make minor changes in the location, line, 
grade, plan, form and dimensions of the work, or any part of them, either before or 
after the commencement of construction.  Such minor changes shall not warrant any 
claim for damages on the part of the Contractor through consequent increase or 
decrease of quantities in any items of the work.  Any changes to the Work which 
contractor and City cannot agree are “minor” will be subject to and will require a 
change order. 

Section 7) Contractor has examined carefully the site of the work and the plans and 
specifications for the work, and shall satisfy itself as to the character, quality and 
quantity of all working conditions and obstacles to be encountered. Contractor shall 
receive no additional compensation for any obstacles or difficulties due conditions 
actually encountered which should have been discovered during Contractor’s 



 
 

3 

examination of the site.  Contractor’s commencement of its work, preceded by a 
reasonable review of supporting and/or contiguous work of others, shall not constitute 
a waiver of the Owner’s obligation to construct or ensure the work of others is in 
accordance with tolerances and quality levels specified in the Contract Documents.  
Neither the Contractor nor its lower tier subcontractors shall be responsible or liable 
in any way for errors and omissions in the work of others.  The Contractor agrees to 
make a reasonable effort to cooperate with the coordination of its work with the work 
of other trades and report any deficiencies it finds as part of performing its work.  The 
Contractor shall not be required to take off as bult dimensions to design its work. 

Section 8) The Contractor, its superintendent and foreman shall promptly obey and 
follow every order or direction which shall be given by the City or its designee in 
accordance with the terms of this contract. 

Section 9) The Contractor will be held responsible for the care, protection, and 
condition of all of its work until its scope of work is finally completed and accepted, 
and will be required to make good at its own cost any damage or injury occurring as 
a result of Contractor’s acts or omissions.  The Contractor agrees to exercise 
reasonable care in protecting the existing construction and improvements from 
damage during the performance of its work on the Project.  

Section 10) The Contractor is not responsible for the repair of damage to its work 
caused by others but will help in mitigating any issues from other Contractors. 
Contractor assumes responsibility for any temporary protection measures, protective 
coverings, temporary construction, barricades, it deems necessary during this 
Agreement. 

Section 11) Owner is responsible for providing and maintaining clear, level, well-drained 
unloading areas and access around the existing structure for Contractor to use while 
performing work under this Agreement. Any debris, trash, or other items resulting from 
Contractor’s work on the Project shall be stored and arranged daily so as not to 
impeded the progress and work of other trades, and shall be removed at Contractor’s 
expense at the conclusion of Contractor’s work on the Project. 

Section 12) Any work or materials found not meeting the requirements of the 
specifications shall be removed by or at the expense of the Contractor and good and 
satisfactory work or material substituted therefore. Neither the Contractor nor its lower-
tier sub‐subcontractors shall be responsible or liable in any way for errors and omissions 
in the work of others. 

Section 13) The Contractor shall be responsible for the completion of the work 
according to the contract documents and its responsibility shall not cease until the 
whole work contracted for is completed and accepted. 

Section 14) The Contractor shall keep fully informed at all times regarding all details of 
the work.  The Contractor shall be responsible for all delays that may result in failure 
to install the work in the proper manner and proper time. Contractor shall carefully 



 
 

4 

study and compare all drawings, specifications, and other instructions and shall 
immediately report to the City any error or omission which the Contractor may 
discover, and shall subsequently proceed with the work in accordance with the 
instructions from the City concerning the error or omission.  Any inconsistencies, 
conflicts, contradictions, or other irregularities with the Contract Documents or the 
work to be performed by Contractor shall be reported promptly, and  in not less than 
two days from their discovery in any event, or Contractor waives any claim for 
additional time or compensation to address such matter. 

Section 15) The Contractor shall furnish a competent and adequate staff as necessary 
for the proper administration, coordination, prosecution, and supervision of the work, 
and shall organize the procurement of all the materials and equipment so that they will 
be available at the time they are needed for the work, per the mutually agreed upon 
schedule, attached. The Contractor shall keep an adequate force of skilled workers 
on the job to complete the work in accordance with all requirements of the contract 
documents. Any employee who is incompetent, negligent, or careless in his or her 
work shall be removed on demand of the City and replaced by a competent person. 

 

TIME OF THE ESSENCE 

Section 16) It is understood and agreed that time is of the essence of contract, and the 
Contractor agrees to begin actual work covered by this contract in conformity with the 
mutually agreed upon schedule, and to prosecute the work with all due diligence, so 
as to complete the entire work under this contract within that schedule.  If the work 
shall not be completed within the stated time, Contractor agrees to pay to City $250.00 
for each and every day or part thereof the work remains uncompleted after the 
expiration of the stated time, as agreed and liquidated damages for failure to comply 
with the terms of this contract with reference to the time of completion. The above 
damages are just and reasonable and liquidated damages for the failure of Contractor 
to comply with this paragraph of this contract.   

Section 17) The Contractor shall be considered as having taken into account when 
submitting its proposal all hindrances and delays incident to such work whether 
growing out of delays in securing materials or workers or otherwise, or due to normal 
unfavorable or inclement weather, and will not be granted an extension of time on 
account of them. The right of the Contractor to proceed shall not be terminated, nor 
will the Contractor be charged with liquidated damages because of any delays in the 
completion of the work due to other causes beyond those mentioned herein that are 
beyond the control of the Contractor and which the City shall decide could not have 
been anticipated or avoided, but an extension of time shall be granted by the City, the 
amount of such extension of time to be determined by the City or its designee; 
provided however, that the Contractor shall give the City notice in writing at the time 
of such delay and the cause of it.  The failure to notify the City of a delay or cause of 
delay as described herein within five days of the date the Contractor knew or should 



 
 

5 

have known about the delay shall amount to a waiver for any additional time.  Subject 
to the terms of this section, extensions of time will not be unreasonably withheld. 

SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND INDEMNIFICATION 

Section 18) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract, the Contractor agrees 
to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Owner, and the affiliate companies of 
each, for any losses and expenses arising out of the negligence, recklessness, or 
willful misconduct of the Contractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed or 
subcontracted by the Contractor for whose acts it may be liable. The indemnification 
provided for herein is required only to the extent and proportion that the Contractor’s 
(or its employees or subcontractors) negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct 
contributed to such injury or damage.  

PAYMENT AND PERFORMANCE BOND 

Section 19) Upon the signing of this contract, Contractor shall give a good and sufficient 
bonds with a guaranty or surety company duly authorized to carry on business and 
execute the bonds in the State of Georgia, to be approved by the City, in an amount 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price set forth above, and said 
bond shall be maintained for no less than one year from the date of acceptance of the 
work under this contract by the City, to ensure the proper performance maintenance, 
and payment by Contractor of all amounts required to bey paid by Contractor for the 
work performed by the Contractor, its employees or subcontractors under this 
Agreement. 

ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

Section 20) This contract shall not be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the 
express written consent of City. 

PAYMENT OF MATERIALMEN BY CITY 

Section 21) If Contractor fails to pay subcontractors, the City reserves and shall have 
the right before paying Contractor, to pay any and all claims against Contractor, or 
against any subcontractor, for labor, and any claim for materials, and deduct the 
amount from the amount due Contractor. 

Section 22) In the event the City is required to pay subcontractors directly pursuant to 
Section 21, the City shall also have the right to reserve out of the amount earned under 
this contract an amount it sees fit and to hold it until satisfied that all workers have 
been fully paid. 

Section 23) Nothing contained in this contract shall in any manner create any liability 
against City on behalf of any claimant for labor or materials, and nothing herein 
contained shall affect the liability of Contractor or its sureties to City or to any worker 
or materialman upon any bond given in connection with this contract. 



 
 

6 

LAW GOVERNING CONTRACT 

Section 24) It is the intent of all parties that this Contract be governed by the law of the 
State of Georgia. 

LAWS AND REGULATIONS AFFECTING CONTRACT 

Section 25) This contract is entered into and accepted subject to the Charter and Code 
of Ordinances of the City of Dawsonville, and all such regulations and ordinances that 
may be enacted by the City during the course of this Contract relating to the subject 
of local improvements of this character. 

Section 26) Contractor agrees to comply in all respects with the laws of the United 
States of America, the laws of the State of Georgia, and the ordinances of the City of 
Dawsonville respecting labor and compensation and with all labor statutes, 
ordinances, rules and regulations applicable and having the force of law. 

Section 27) The foregoing notwithstanding, Contractor, in performing under this 
contract, shall not discriminate against any worker, employee or applicant, or any 
member of the public, because of race, creed, color, sex, age or national origin, nor 
otherwise commit an unfair employment practice. Contractor further agrees that this 
article will be incorporated by Contractor in all contracts entered into with suppliers of 
materials or services, Contractors and subcontractors and all labor organizations, 
furnishing skilled, unskilled and craft union skilled labor, or who may perform any such 
labor or services in connection with this contract.  Contractor shall complete any and 
all forms, affidavits, assurances, and certifications requested by City to comply with 
any and all rules and regulations affecting this agreement or the work to be performed 
hereunder, including but not limited to a S.A.V.E. Affidavit, as well as any other 
materials required for compliance with the One-Georgia Grant with the City of 
Dawsonville was awarded for this Project. 

DEFAULT 

Section 28) Default. If the Contractor fails to begin the work under this contract within 
the time specified, or fails to perform the work with sufficient workers and equipment 
or with sufficient materials to insure the completion of the work within the specified 
time, or shall perform the work in an unsatisfactory manner, or shall neglect or refuse 
to remove materials or perform anew such work as shall be rejected as defective or 
unsuitable, or shall discontinue the prosecution of the work, or if the Contractor shall 
become insolvent or be declared bankrupt, or shall commit any act of bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall not carry 
on the work in an acceptable manner, the City shall give notice in writing to the 
Contractor and its surety of the failure, delay, neglect, refusal, or default, specifying 
the same, and if the Contractor, within a period of seven (7) days after notice, shall 
not proceed in accordance with the notice, then the City shall have full power and 
authority to declare the forfeiture of this contract, and to forfeit the rights of the 
Contractor in this contract, and the City at its option may call upon the surety to 



 
 

7 

complete the work in accordance with the terms of this contract or may have the City 
take over the work, including any or all materials and equipment on the ground as may 
be suitable and acceptable to the City and may complete the work by or on its own 
force, or may enter into a new contract for the completion of the work, or may use 
other methods which in the opinion of the City shall be required for the completion of 
the work in an acceptable manner. All costs and charges incurred by the City, together 
with the cost of completing the work, shall be deducted from any moneys due or which 
may become due on this contract. In case the expense so incurred by the City shall 
be less than the sum which would have been payable under this contract if it had been 
completed by the Contractor and had not been forfeited by the City, then the 
Contractor shall be entitled to receive the difference, subject to any claims or liens 
which may have been filed with the City, and in case the expense shall exceed the 
sum which would have been payable under this contract, the Contractor and the surety 
shall be liable and shall pay to the City the amount of the excess. 

INSPECTORS AND COMPLETION OF WORK 

Section 29) Inspectors may be assigned by the City to inspect all materials used and all 
work done under the contract. Such inspection may extend to all or any part of the 
work and to the preparation or manufacture of the materials to be used. The inspectors 
will not be authorized to revoke, alter, enlarge or relax the provisions of the plans and 
specifications, nor to delay the fulfillment of the contract by failure to inspect materials 
and work with reasonable promptness. An inspector is assigned on the work to keep 
the City informed as to the progress of the work and the manner in which it is being 
done; also to call the attention of the Contractor to any infringement upon or failure to 
adhere to the plans and specifications. The inspector will not be authorized to approve 
or accept any portion of the work, to issue instructions contrary to the plans and 
specifications, or to act as a foreman for the Contractor. The inspector will have full 
authority to reject defective material if not repairable, and work subject to the final 
decision of the City or its designee. 

Section 30) If in the judgment of the City or its designee it is necessary to close down 
the work due to circumstances arising during the progress of the work, which may be 
construed to be dangerous, or due to noncompliance with the specifications; and if it 
is so ordered by the City, Contractor, upon receiving notice of the order in writing shall 
comply with it and stop all operations [under the contract and] upon the project, and 
the work shall remain closed down until further orders in writing are given by the City 
to Contractor to proceed with the work of the project. 

Section 31) Upon completion of the work, the City shall satisfy itself, by examination and 
test, that the work has been fully completed in accordance with the plans, 
specifications and contract documents. When the City is so satisfied, it shall advise 
the Contractor in writing of acceptance of the work. 

Section 32) The right of general supervision of the City as provided for in this Contract 
shall not make the Contractor an agent or employee of the city, but the Contractor 
shall at all times, and in all respects have the rights and liabilities of an Independent 



 
 

8 

Contractor. 

INSURANCE 

Section 33) Insurance. Contractor agrees to keep in force during the life of this contract 
such insurance policies as required in Exhibits A and/or B.  Contractor further agrees 
if requested by the City or its designee, to furnish certificates of any or all insurance 
policies listing the city as a coinsured within fifteen (15) days after execution of 
contract. 

Section 34) The Contractor and its subcontractors shall comply with the Workers’ 
Compensation Act of the State of Georgia, and shall provide compensation insurance 
to protect the Contractor, its subcontractors and the City from and against any and all 
workers' compensation claims arising from performance of the work under the 
contract. 

SPECIAL STIPULATIONS 

Section 35) The Contractor shall start the work within ten (10) calendar days of the 
execution of this agreement by the City; shall prosecute the work at place or places 
the City or its designee may from time to time direct, and shall fully complete in every 
detail all the work to be done under the contract within the time limit set forth in the 
mutually agreed upon schedule. 

Section 36) If a dispute arises out of or relating to this contract, or its breach, and if the 
dispute cannot be settled through direct discussions, the parties agree to first 
endeavor to settle the dispute in an amicable manner by mediation, before having 
recourse to a judicial forum. 

Section 37) Permits. Unless otherwise provided in this Contract, the Contractor shall 
take out, at its own expense, all permits and licenses necessary to carry out the work 
described in this contract. 

Section 38) The Contractor shall be responsible for the contracted quality and standards 
of all materials, components or completed work furnished under this contract up to the 
time of final acceptance by the City of the Contractor’s scope of work.  This shall not 
affect the responsibility of the Contractor to post and maintain the performance bond 
described above for one full year from the date of acceptance by the City.  Nor shall 
anything in this paragraph serve to limit or restrict Contractor’s liability for personal 
injury or property damage resulting from Contractor’s work for any pertinent statute of 
limitations or statute of repose. 

Section 39) Materials, components or completed work not complying with the contract 
may be rejected by the City or its designee and shall be replaced by the Contractor at 
no cost to the City. 

Section 40) The Contractor shall assume full responsibility and expense for the 
protection of all public and private property and structures, at or near the site or sites 



 
 

9 

of the work being performed under the contract, or which are in any manner affected 
by the prosecution of the work or the transportation of workers and materials in 
connection with the work.  

Section 41) Work shall normally not be done on Sundays, holidays, at night or outside 
the daytime working hours from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. except for such work as may 
be approved in writing by the City or its designee as necessary for proper care, 
maintenance and protection of work already done or of equipment, or in case of 
emergency beyond the Contractor's control where the work would be endangered or 
hazards to life or property would result. In case the Contractor considers it necessary 
to work on Sundays, holidays or at night, it shall make requests to the City or its 
designee and receive written approval at least 48 hours ahead of such work period so 
that proper inspection and service can be provided. Approval of night work may be 
revoked at any time by the City or its designee if the Contractor fails to maintain 
adequate equipment and lighting at night for the proper prosecution, control and 
inspection of the work. All possible advance warning of emergency work periods must 
be given by the Contractor to the City or its designee, and written approval of the work 
must be received by the Contractor before proceeding with work during these periods. 

Section 42) Headings.  Headings used in this document are for the purpose of the 
convenience of the parties to the Contract only, and are in no way intended to have 
substantive meaning themselves, nor to affect the substantive meaning of the body of 
this Contract. 

Section 43) Severability.  Each provision in this Contract and each part of each provision 
in this Contract shall be deemed to be severable, such that if it should be determined 
that the Contract is unenforceable in any particular, that unenforceable part shall be 
excised and the Contract will continue to be in force and effect as if such 
unenforceable provision or part thereof were never a part of the Contract.  It is the 
express intent of the parties to this Contract that if any part of the Contract is deemed 
unenforceable, that they be bound by the remainder of the Contract which is 
enforceable. 

 
  



 
 

10 

WHEREFORE the parties have signed and executed this Contract on the _____ day of 
________________, 20___. 
 
Contractor:      City of Dawsonville, Georgia 
Windsor Pine, LLC 
 
 
 
_____________________________                 _______________________________ 
By: __________________________ John Walden, Mayor 
 
Its: __________________________ 
 
 ________________________________ 
 Beverly Banister, City Clerk 
 
 
 [CITY SEAL] 
 
 



 
 

1 

CONTRACT 
 
 
City:   The City of Dawsonville Georgia 

415 Highway 53 East 
Dawsonville, Georgia 30534 

 
 
Contractor:  Techventures, LLC 
  d/b/a The W.H. Platts Co. 
  3979 Buford Hwy, NE 
  Unit CC098 
  Atlanta, Georgia 30345 

 
WHEREAS the City of Dawsonville, (the “City”) has determined to proceed with the 
Purchase and Installation of an Audiovisual System for the City of Dawsonville, 
Racing Hall of Fame (hereinafter “Project”) which was released either for bid or for 
proposals, the documents related to such bid or proposal being attached hereto as Exhibit 
“A”; 

WHEREAS Techventures, LLC, d/b/a The W.H. Platts, Co., (hereinafter referred to as 
“Contractor”) placed a Bid/Proposal on the Project or submitted a proposal for the project, 
and was selected by the City for the completion of the Project; 

WHEREAS Contractor agreed to perform the work on the Project to the specifications 
presented in Exhibit “A” as per Contractor’s submittal shown in Exhibit “B”; 

AND WHEREAS the City has awarded the Contract on the Project to Contractor. 

NOW THEREFORE, having determined that Contractor and the City desire to enter into 
an agreement for the Project, both parties do hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

PURPOSE OF CONTRACT AND PAYMENT 

Section 1) That in consideration of the promises of City set forth below, Contractor 
agrees to provide all materials, equipment and labor for the services described in 
Exhibits A and B. 

Section 2) That in consideration of the promises of the Contractor set forth in this 
Contract, the City agrees to pay to Contractor remittances for services performed 
under the terms of this Contract as those funds are received by the City pursuant to 
that certain One-Georgia Grant which the City was awarded, subject to the inspection 
and progress requirements described more fully below.  However, the total amount to 
be paid to Contractor under the terms of this Contract shall not exceed sixty two 
thousand three hundred fifty eight and 98/100 ($62,358.98) without written 
approved change orders or contract amendments executed by both City and 
Contractor.  (said sum hereinafter referred to as the “Contract Price”). 



 
 

2 

Section 3) On a monthly basis, Contractor shall submit a payment invoice describing 
work completed during the previous thirty (30) days and requesting payment for said 
work less a five percent (5%) retainage.  Following inspection and approval of the 
work reflected on the payment invoice, the City will make payment to the Contractor 
within ten (10) days of the City receiving funds from the State of Georgia pursuant to 
the One Georgia Grant awarded to the City which grant funds are intended and 
purposed for the payment of the Project.  Upon final inspection, approval of the 
completed work, a determination that there is no need to withhold funds for damages, 
contract completion, or liquidated damages, acceptance of the project, and receipt of 
funds from the State of Georgia as described herein, the City will forward payment of 
the remaining five percent (5%) retainage to Contractor. 

 

SPECIFICATIONS FOR COMPLETION 

Section 4) The improvements shall be made and completed in all things in accordance 
with the plans and specifications contained in Exhibits A and B, which plans and 
specifications are referred to and made a part of this contract to the same extent as if 
they were specifically set forth.   

Section 5) All of the work and labor performed under this contract shall be performed, 
and all of the material furnished shall be, in strict conformity with the plans and 
specifications, and Contractor accepts and consents to the conditions contained in the 
plans and specifications and expressly agrees to comply with every requirement and 
stipulation contained in them to be performed by the party contracting to do the work. 
The Mayor and Council or their designee shall decide every question that can or may 
arise between the parties relative to the construction of this contract and to its 
performance, including all questions as to the quality, quantity, amount, and prices of 
the several kinds of work that may be performed or material furnished under this 
contract, and this determination shall be conclusive upon the parties.  In the event 
Contractor shall violate any of the provisions of this contract, the City shall ascertain 
and determine the amount of damages resulting from the violation, which 
determination shall be conclusive, and Contractor shall pay to the City the amount of 
damages as ascertained and determined. 

Section 6) The City reserves the right to make minor changes in the location, line, 
grade, plan, form and dimensions of the work, or any part of them, either before or 
after the commencement of construction.  Such minor changes shall not warrant any 
claim for damages on the part of the Contractor through consequent increase or 
decrease of quantities in any items of the work.  Any changes to the Work which 
contractor and City cannot agree are “minor” will be subject to and will require a 
change order. 

Section 7) Contractor has examined carefully the site of the work and the plans and 
specifications for the work, and shall satisfy itself as to the character, quality and 
quantity of all working conditions and obstacles to be encountered. Contractor shall 



 
 

3 

receive no additional compensation for any obstacles or difficulties due conditions 
actually encountered which should have been discovered during Contractor’s 
examination of the site.  Contractor’s commencement of its work, preceded by a 
reasonable review of supporting and/or contiguous work of others, shall not constitute 
a waiver of the Owner’s obligation to construct or ensure the work of others is in 
accordance with tolerances and quality levels specified in the Contract Documents.  
Neither the Contractor nor its lower tier subcontractors shall be responsible or liable 
in any way for errors and omissions in the work of others.  The Contractor agrees to 
make a reasonable effort to cooperate with the coordination of its work with the work 
of other trades and report any deficiencies it finds as part of performing its work.  The 
Contractor shall not be required to take off as bult dimensions to design its work. 

Section 8) The Contractor, its superintendent and foreman shall promptly obey and 
follow every order or direction which shall be given by the City or its designee in 
accordance with the terms of this contract. 

Section 9) The Contractor will be held responsible for the care, protection, and 
condition of all of its work until its scope of work is finally completed and accepted, 
and will be required to make good at its own cost any damage or injury occurring as 
a result of Contractor’s acts or omissions.  The Contractor agrees to exercise 
reasonable care in protecting the existing construction and improvements from 
damage during the performance of its work on the Project.  

Section 10) The Contractor is not responsible for the repair of damage to its work 
caused by others but will help in mitigating any issues from other Contractors. 
Contractor assumes responsibility for any temporary protection measures, protective 
coverings, temporary construction, barricades, it deems necessary during this 
Agreement. 

Section 11) Owner is responsible for providing and maintaining clear, level, well-drained 
unloading areas and access around the existing structure for Contractor to use while 
performing work under this Agreement. Any debris, trash, or other items resulting from 
Contractor’s work on the Project shall be stored and arranged daily so as not to 
impeded the progress and work of other trades, and shall be removed at Contractor’s 
expense at the conclusion of Contractor’s work on the Project. 

Section 12) Any work or materials found not meeting the requirements of the 
specifications shall be removed by or at the expense of the Contractor and good and 
satisfactory work or material substituted therefore. Neither the Contractor nor its lower-
tier sub‐subcontractors shall be responsible or liable in any way for errors and omissions 
in the work of others. 

Section 13) The Contractor shall be responsible for the completion of the work 
according to the contract documents and its responsibility shall not cease until the 
whole work contracted for is completed and accepted. 



 
 

4 

Section 14) The Contractor shall keep fully informed at all times regarding all details of 
the work.  The Contractor shall be responsible for all delays that may result in failure 
to install the work in the proper manner and proper time. Contractor shall carefully 
study and compare all drawings, specifications, and other instructions and shall 
immediately report to the City any error or omission which the Contractor may 
discover, and shall subsequently proceed with the work in accordance with the 
instructions from the City concerning the error or omission.  Any inconsistencies, 
conflicts, contradictions, or other irregularities with the Contract Documents or the 
work to be performed by Contractor shall be reported promptly, and  in not less than 
two days from their discovery in any event, or Contractor waives any claim for 
additional time or compensation to address such matter. 

Section 15) The Contractor shall furnish a competent and adequate staff as necessary 
for the proper administration, coordination, prosecution, and supervision of the work, 
and shall organize the procurement of all the materials and equipment so that they will 
be available at the time they are needed for the work, per the mutually agreed upon 
schedule, attached. The Contractor shall keep an adequate force of skilled workers 
on the job to complete the work in accordance with all requirements of the contract 
documents. Any employee who is incompetent, negligent, or careless in his or her 
work shall be removed on demand of the City and replaced by a competent person. 

 

TIME OF THE ESSENCE 

Section 16) It is understood and agreed that time is of the essence of contract, and the 
Contractor agrees to begin actual work covered by this contract in conformity with the 
mutually agreed upon schedule, and to prosecute the work with all due diligence, so 
as to complete the entire work under this contract within that schedule.  If the work 
shall not be completed within the stated time, Contractor agrees to pay to City $250.00 
for each and every day or part thereof the work remains uncompleted after the 
expiration of the stated time, as agreed and liquidated damages for failure to comply 
with the terms of this contract with reference to the time of completion. The above 
damages are just and reasonable and liquidated damages for the failure of Contractor 
to comply with this paragraph of this contract.   

Section 17) The Contractor shall be considered as having taken into account when 
submitting its proposal all hindrances and delays incident to such work whether 
growing out of delays in securing materials or workers or otherwise, or due to normal 
unfavorable or inclement weather, and will not be granted an extension of time on 
account of them. The right of the Contractor to proceed shall not be terminated, nor 
will the Contractor be charged with liquidated damages because of any delays in the 
completion of the work due to other causes beyond those mentioned herein that are 
beyond the control of the Contractor and which the City shall decide could not have 
been anticipated or avoided, but an extension of time shall be granted by the City, the 
amount of such extension of time to be determined by the City or its designee; 
provided however, that the Contractor shall give the City notice in writing at the time 



 
 

5 

of such delay and the cause of it.  The failure to notify the City of a delay or cause of 
delay as described herein within five days of the date the Contractor knew or should 
have known about the delay shall amount to a waiver for any additional time.  Subject 
to the terms of this section, extensions of time will not be unreasonably withheld. 

SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND INDEMNIFICATION 

Section 18) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract, the Contractor agrees 
to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Owner, and the affiliate companies of 
each, for any losses and expenses arising out of the negligence, recklessness, or 
willful misconduct of the Contractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed or 
subcontracted by the Contractor for whose acts it may be liable. The indemnification 
provided for herein is required only to the extent and proportion that the Contractor’s 
(or its employees or subcontractors) negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct 
contributed to such injury or damage.  

PAYMENT AND PERFORMANCE BOND 

Section 19) Upon the signing of this contract, Contractor shall give a good and sufficient 
bonds with a guaranty or surety company duly authorized to carry on business and 
execute the bonds in the State of Georgia, to be approved by the City, in an amount 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price set forth above, and said 
bond shall be maintained for no less than one year from the date of acceptance of the 
work under this contract by the City, to ensure the proper performance maintenance, 
and payment by Contractor of all amounts required to bey paid by Contractor for the 
work performed by the Contractor, its employees or subcontractors under this 
Agreement. 

ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

Section 20) This contract shall not be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the 
express written consent of City. 

PAYMENT OF MATERIALMEN BY CITY 

Section 21) If Contractor fails to pay subcontractors, the City reserves and shall have 
the right before paying Contractor, to pay any and all claims against Contractor, or 
against any subcontractor, for labor, and any claim for materials, and deduct the 
amount from the amount due Contractor. 

Section 22) In the event the City is required to pay subcontractors directly pursuant to 
Section 21, the City shall also have the right to reserve out of the amount earned under 
this contract an amount it sees fit and to hold it until satisfied that all workers have 
been fully paid. 

Section 23) Nothing contained in this contract shall in any manner create any liability 
against City on behalf of any claimant for labor or materials, and nothing herein 
contained shall affect the liability of Contractor or its sureties to City or to any worker 



 
 

6 

or materialman upon any bond given in connection with this contract. 

LAW GOVERNING CONTRACT 

Section 24) It is the intent of all parties that this Contract be governed by the law of the 
State of Georgia. 

LAWS AND REGULATIONS AFFECTING CONTRACT 

Section 25) This contract is entered into and accepted subject to the Charter and Code 
of Ordinances of the City of Dawsonville, and all such regulations and ordinances that 
may be enacted by the City during the course of this Contract relating to the subject 
of local improvements of this character. 

Section 26) Contractor agrees to comply in all respects with the laws of the United 
States of America, the laws of the State of Georgia, and the ordinances of the City of 
Dawsonville respecting labor and compensation and with all labor statutes, 
ordinances, rules and regulations applicable and having the force of law. 

Section 27) The foregoing notwithstanding, Contractor, in performing under this 
contract, shall not discriminate against any worker, employee or applicant, or any 
member of the public, because of race, creed, color, sex, age or national origin, nor 
otherwise commit an unfair employment practice. Contractor further agrees that this 
article will be incorporated by Contractor in all contracts entered into with suppliers of 
materials or services, Contractors and subcontractors and all labor organizations, 
furnishing skilled, unskilled and craft union skilled labor, or who may perform any such 
labor or services in connection with this contract.  Contractor shall complete any and 
all forms, affidavits, assurances, and certifications requested by City to comply with 
any and all rules and regulations affecting this agreement or the work to be performed 
hereunder, including but not limited to a S.A.V.E. Affidavit, as well as any other 
materials required for compliance with the One-Georgia Grant with the City of 
Dawsonville was awarded for this Project. 

DEFAULT 

Section 28) Default. If the Contractor fails to begin the work under this contract within 
the time specified, or fails to perform the work with sufficient workers and equipment 
or with sufficient materials to insure the completion of the work within the specified 
time, or shall perform the work in an unsatisfactory manner, or shall neglect or refuse 
to remove materials or perform anew such work as shall be rejected as defective or 
unsuitable, or shall discontinue the prosecution of the work, or if the Contractor shall 
become insolvent or be declared bankrupt, or shall commit any act of bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall not carry 
on the work in an acceptable manner, the City shall give notice in writing to the 
Contractor and its surety of the failure, delay, neglect, refusal, or default, specifying 
the same, and if the Contractor, within a period of seven (7) days after notice, shall 
not proceed in accordance with the notice, then the City shall have full power and 
authority to declare the forfeiture of this contract, and to forfeit the rights of the 



 
 

7 

Contractor in this contract, and the City at its option may call upon the surety to 
complete the work in accordance with the terms of this contract or may have the City 
take over the work, including any or all materials and equipment on the ground as may 
be suitable and acceptable to the City and may complete the work by or on its own 
force, or may enter into a new contract for the completion of the work, or may use 
other methods which in the opinion of the City shall be required for the completion of 
the work in an acceptable manner. All costs and charges incurred by the City, together 
with the cost of completing the work, shall be deducted from any moneys due or which 
may become due on this contract. In case the expense so incurred by the City shall 
be less than the sum which would have been payable under this contract if it had been 
completed by the Contractor and had not been forfeited by the City, then the 
Contractor shall be entitled to receive the difference, subject to any claims or liens 
which may have been filed with the City, and in case the expense shall exceed the 
sum which would have been payable under this contract, the Contractor and the surety 
shall be liable and shall pay to the City the amount of the excess. 

INSPECTORS AND COMPLETION OF WORK 

Section 29) Inspectors may be assigned by the City to inspect all materials used and all 
work done under the contract. Such inspection may extend to all or any part of the 
work and to the preparation or manufacture of the materials to be used. The inspectors 
will not be authorized to revoke, alter, enlarge or relax the provisions of the plans and 
specifications, nor to delay the fulfillment of the contract by failure to inspect materials 
and work with reasonable promptness. An inspector is assigned on the work to keep 
the City informed as to the progress of the work and the manner in which it is being 
done; also to call the attention of the Contractor to any infringement upon or failure to 
adhere to the plans and specifications. The inspector will not be authorized to approve 
or accept any portion of the work, to issue instructions contrary to the plans and 
specifications, or to act as a foreman for the Contractor. The inspector will have full 
authority to reject defective material if not repairable, and work subject to the final 
decision of the City or its designee. 

Section 30) If in the judgment of the City or its designee it is necessary to close down 
the work due to circumstances arising during the progress of the work, which may be 
construed to be dangerous, or due to noncompliance with the specifications; and if it 
is so ordered by the City, Contractor, upon receiving notice of the order in writing shall 
comply with it and stop all operations [under the contract and] upon the project, and 
the work shall remain closed down until further orders in writing are given by the City 
to Contractor to proceed with the work of the project. 

Section 31) Upon completion of the work, the City shall satisfy itself, by examination and 
test, that the work has been fully completed in accordance with the plans, 
specifications and contract documents. When the City is so satisfied, it shall advise 
the Contractor in writing of acceptance of the work. 

Section 32) The right of general supervision of the City as provided for in this Contract 
shall not make the Contractor an agent or employee of the city, but the Contractor 



 
 

8 

shall at all times, and in all respects have the rights and liabilities of an Independent 
Contractor. 

INSURANCE 

Section 33) Insurance. Contractor agrees to keep in force during the life of this contract 
such insurance policies as required in Exhibits A and/or B.  Contractor further agrees 
if requested by the City or its designee, to furnish certificates of any or all insurance 
policies listing the city as a coinsured within fifteen (15) days after execution of 
contract. 

Section 34) The Contractor and its subcontractors shall comply with the Workers’ 
Compensation Act of the State of Georgia, and shall provide compensation insurance 
to protect the Contractor, its subcontractors and the City from and against any and all 
workers' compensation claims arising from performance of the work under the 
contract. 

SPECIAL STIPULATIONS 

Section 35) The Contractor shall start the work within ten (10) calendar days of the 
execution of this agreement by the City; shall prosecute the work at place or places 
the City or its designee may from time to time direct, and shall fully complete in every 
detail all the work to be done under the contract within the time limit set forth in the 
mutually agreed upon schedule. 

Section 36) If a dispute arises out of or relating to this contract, or its breach, and if the 
dispute cannot be settled through direct discussions, the parties agree to first 
endeavor to settle the dispute in an amicable manner by mediation, before having 
recourse to a judicial forum. 

Section 37) Permits. Unless otherwise provided in this Contract, the Contractor shall 
take out, at its own expense, all permits and licenses necessary to carry out the work 
described in this contract. 

Section 38) The Contractor shall be responsible for the contracted quality and standards 
of all materials, components or completed work furnished under this contract up to the 
time of final acceptance by the City of the Contractor’s scope of work.  This shall not 
affect the responsibility of the Contractor to post and maintain the performance bond 
described above for one full year from the date of acceptance by the City.  Nor shall 
anything in this paragraph serve to limit or restrict Contractor’s liability for personal 
injury or property damage resulting from Contractor’s work for any pertinent statute of 
limitations or statute of repose. 

Section 39) Materials, components or completed work not complying with the contract 
may be rejected by the City or its designee and shall be replaced by the Contractor at 
no cost to the City. 



 
 

9 

Section 40) The Contractor shall assume full responsibility and expense for the 
protection of all public and private property and structures, at or near the site or sites 
of the work being performed under the contract, or which are in any manner affected 
by the prosecution of the work or the transportation of workers and materials in 
connection with the work.  

Section 41) Work shall normally not be done on Sundays, holidays, at night or outside 
the daytime working hours from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. except for such work as may 
be approved in writing by the City or its designee as necessary for proper care, 
maintenance and protection of work already done or of equipment, or in case of 
emergency beyond the Contractor's control where the work would be endangered or 
hazards to life or property would result. In case the Contractor considers it necessary 
to work on Sundays, holidays or at night, it shall make requests to the City or its 
designee and receive written approval at least 48 hours ahead of such work period so 
that proper inspection and service can be provided. Approval of night work may be 
revoked at any time by the City or its designee if the Contractor fails to maintain 
adequate equipment and lighting at night for the proper prosecution, control and 
inspection of the work. All possible advance warning of emergency work periods must 
be given by the Contractor to the City or its designee, and written approval of the work 
must be received by the Contractor before proceeding with work during these periods. 

Section 42) Headings.  Headings used in this document are for the purpose of the 
convenience of the parties to the Contract only, and are in no way intended to have 
substantive meaning themselves, nor to affect the substantive meaning of the body of 
this Contract. 

Section 43) Severability.  Each provision in this Contract and each part of each provision 
in this Contract shall be deemed to be severable, such that if it should be determined 
that the Contract is unenforceable in any particular, that unenforceable part shall be 
excised and the Contract will continue to be in force and effect as if such 
unenforceable provision or part thereof were never a part of the Contract.  It is the 
express intent of the parties to this Contract that if any part of the Contract is deemed 
unenforceable, that they be bound by the remainder of the Contract which is 
enforceable. 

 
  



 
 

10 

WHEREFORE the parties have signed and executed this Contract on the _____ day of 
________________, 20___. 
 
Contractor:      City of Dawsonville, Georgia 
Techventures, LLC 
d/b/a The W.H. Platts Co. 
 
 
 
_____________________________                 _______________________________ 
By: __________________________ John Walden, Mayor 
 
Its: __________________________ 
 
 ________________________________ 
 Beverly Banister, City Clerk 
 
 
 [CITY SEAL] 
 
 



 
 

1 

CONTRACT 
 
 
City:   The City of Dawsonville Georgia 

415 Highway 53 East 
Dawsonville, Georgia 30534 

 
 
Contractor:  S J Ross Enterprises, Inc. d/b/a  

Atlanta Home Theater 
10140 Swaybranch Drive 
Roswell, Georgia 30075 

 
WHEREAS the City of Dawsonville, (the “City”) has determined to proceed with the 
Purchase and Installation of iRacing Gaming and Audio Packages (hereinafter 
“Project”) which was released either for bid or for proposals, the documents related to 
such bid or proposal being attached hereto as Exhibit “A”; 

WHEREAS S. J. Ross Enterprises, Inc., d/b/a Atlanta Home Theater (hereinafter 
referred to as “Contractor”) placed a Bid/Proposal on the Project or submitted a proposal 
for the project, and was selected by the City for the completion of the Project; 

WHEREAS Contractor agreed to perform the work on the Project to the specifications 
presented in Exhibit “A” as per Contractor’s submittal shown in Exhibit “B”; 

AND WHEREAS the City has awarded the Contract on the Project to Contractor. 

NOW THEREFORE, having determined that Contractor and the City desire to enter into 
an agreement for the Project, both parties do hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

PURPOSE OF CONTRACT AND PAYMENT 

Section 1) That in consideration of the promises of City set forth below, Contractor 
agrees to provide all materials, equipment and labor for the services described in 
Exhibits A and B. 

Section 2) That in consideration of the promises of the Contractor set forth in this 
Contract, the City agrees to pay to Contractor remittances for services performed 
under the terms of this Contract as those funds are received by the City pursuant to 
that certain One-Georgia Grant which the City was awarded, subject to the inspection 
and progress requirements described more fully below.  However, the total amount to 
be paid to Contractor under the terms of this Contract shall not exceed two hundred 
seven thousand eight hundred eighty-six and no/100 dollars ($207,886.00) 
without written approved change orders or contract amendments executed by both 
City and Contractor.  (said sum hereinafter referred to as the “Contract Price”). 

Section 3) On a monthly basis, Contractor shall submit a payment invoice describing 



 
 

2 

work completed during the previous thirty (30) days and requesting payment for said 
work less a five percent (5%) retainage.  Following inspection and approval of the 
work reflected on the payment invoice, the City will make payment to the Contractor 
within ten (10) days of the City receiving funds from the State of Georgia pursuant to 
the One Georgia Grant awarded to the City which grant funds are intended and 
purposed for the payment of the Project.  Upon final inspection, approval of the 
completed work, a determination that there is no need to withhold funds for damages, 
contract completion, or liquidated damages, acceptance of the project, and receipt of 
funds from the State of Georgia as described herein, the City will forward payment of 
the remaining five percent (5%) retainage to Contractor. 

 

SPECIFICATIONS FOR COMPLETION 

Section 4) The improvements shall be made and completed in all things in accordance 
with the plans and specifications contained in Exhibits A and B, which plans and 
specifications are referred to and made a part of this contract to the same extent as if 
they were specifically set forth.   

Section 5) All of the work and labor performed under this contract shall be performed, 
and all of the material furnished shall be, in strict conformity with the plans and 
specifications, and Contractor accepts and consents to the conditions contained in the 
plans and specifications and expressly agrees to comply with every requirement and 
stipulation contained in them to be performed by the party contracting to do the work. 
The Mayor and Council or their designee shall decide every question that can or may 
arise between the parties relative to the construction of this contract and to its 
performance, including all questions as to the quality, quantity, amount, and prices of 
the several kinds of work that may be performed or material furnished under this 
contract, and this determination shall be conclusive upon the parties.  In the event 
Contractor shall violate any of the provisions of this contract, the City shall ascertain 
and determine the amount of damages resulting from the violation, which 
determination shall be conclusive, and Contractor shall pay to the City the amount of 
damages as ascertained and determined. 

Section 6) The City reserves the right to make minor changes in the location, line, 
grade, plan, form and dimensions of the work, or any part of them, either before or 
after the commencement of construction.  Such minor changes shall not warrant any 
claim for damages on the part of the Contractor through consequent increase or 
decrease of quantities in any items of the work.  Any changes to the Work which 
contractor and City cannot agree are “minor” will be subject to and will require a 
change order. 

Section 7) Contractor has examined carefully the site of the work and the plans and 
specifications for the work, and shall satisfy itself as to the character, quality and 
quantity of all working conditions and obstacles to be encountered. Contractor shall 
receive no additional compensation for any obstacles or difficulties due conditions 



 
 

3 

actually encountered which should have been discovered during Contractor’s 
examination of the site.  Contractor’s commencement of its work, preceded by a 
reasonable review of supporting and/or contiguous work of others, shall not constitute 
a waiver of the Owner’s obligation to construct or ensure the work of others is in 
accordance with tolerances and quality levels specified in the Contract Documents.  
Neither the Contractor nor its lower tier subcontractors shall be responsible or liable 
in any way for errors and omissions in the work of others.  The Contractor agrees to 
make a reasonable effort to cooperate with the coordination of its work with the work 
of other trades and report any deficiencies it finds as part of performing its work.  The 
Contractor shall not be required to take off as bult dimensions to design its work. 

Section 8) The Contractor, its superintendent and foreman shall promptly obey and 
follow every order or direction which shall be given by the City or its designee in 
accordance with the terms of this contract. 

Section 9) The Contractor will be held responsible for the care, protection, and 
condition of all of its work until its scope of work is finally completed and accepted, 
and will be required to make good at its own cost any damage or injury occurring as 
a result of Contractor’s acts or omissions.  The Contractor agrees to exercise 
reasonable care in protecting the existing construction and improvements from 
damage during the performance of its work on the Project.  

Section 10) The Contractor is not responsible for the repair of damage to its work 
caused by others but will help in mitigating any issues from other Contractors. 
Contractor assumes responsibility for any temporary protection measures, protective 
coverings, temporary construction, barricades, it deems necessary during this 
Agreement. 

Section 11) Owner is responsible for providing and maintaining clear, level, well-drained 
unloading areas and access around the existing structure for Contractor to use while 
performing work under this Agreement. Any debris, trash, or other items resulting from 
Contractor’s work on the Project shall be stored and arranged daily so as not to 
impeded the progress and work of other trades, and shall be removed at Contractor’s 
expense at the conclusion of Contractor’s work on the Project. 

Section 12) Any work or materials found not meeting the requirements of the 
specifications shall be removed by or at the expense of the Contractor and good and 
satisfactory work or material substituted therefore. Neither the Contractor nor its lower-
tier sub‐subcontractors shall be responsible or liable in any way for errors and omissions 
in the work of others. 

Section 13) The Contractor shall be responsible for the completion of the work 
according to the contract documents and its responsibility shall not cease until the 
whole work contracted for is completed and accepted. 

Section 14) The Contractor shall keep fully informed at all times regarding all details of 
the work.  The Contractor shall be responsible for all delays that may result in failure 



 
 

4 

to install the work in the proper manner and proper time. Contractor shall carefully 
study and compare all drawings, specifications, and other instructions and shall 
immediately report to the City any error or omission which the Contractor may 
discover, and shall subsequently proceed with the work in accordance with the 
instructions from the City concerning the error or omission.  Any inconsistencies, 
conflicts, contradictions, or other irregularities with the Contract Documents or the 
work to be performed by Contractor shall be reported promptly, and  in not less than 
two days from their discovery in any event, or Contractor waives any claim for 
additional time or compensation to address such matter. 

Section 15) The Contractor shall furnish a competent and adequate staff as necessary 
for the proper administration, coordination, prosecution, and supervision of the work, 
and shall organize the procurement of all the materials and equipment so that they will 
be available at the time they are needed for the work, per the mutually agreed upon 
schedule, attached. The Contractor shall keep an adequate force of skilled workers 
on the job to complete the work in accordance with all requirements of the contract 
documents. Any employee who is incompetent, negligent, or careless in his or her 
work shall be removed on demand of the City and replaced by a competent person. 

 

TIME OF THE ESSENCE 

Section 16) It is understood and agreed that time is of the essence of contract, and the 
Contractor agrees to begin actual work covered by this contract in conformity with the 
mutually agreed upon schedule, and to prosecute the work with all due diligence, so 
as to complete the entire work under this contract within that schedule.  If the work 
shall not be completed within the stated time, Contractor agrees to pay to City $250.00 
for each and every day or part thereof the work remains uncompleted after the 
expiration of the stated time, as agreed and liquidated damages for failure to comply 
with the terms of this contract with reference to the time of completion. The above 
damages are just and reasonable and liquidated damages for the failure of Contractor 
to comply with this paragraph of this contract.   

Section 17) The Contractor shall be considered as having taken into account when 
submitting its proposal all hindrances and delays incident to such work whether 
growing out of delays in securing materials or workers or otherwise, or due to normal 
unfavorable or inclement weather, and will not be granted an extension of time on 
account of them. The right of the Contractor to proceed shall not be terminated, nor 
will the Contractor be charged with liquidated damages because of any delays in the 
completion of the work due to other causes beyond those mentioned herein that are 
beyond the control of the Contractor and which the City shall decide could not have 
been anticipated or avoided, but an extension of time shall be granted by the City, the 
amount of such extension of time to be determined by the City or its designee; 
provided however, that the Contractor shall give the City notice in writing at the time 
of such delay and the cause of it.  The failure to notify the City of a delay or cause of 
delay as described herein within five days of the date the Contractor knew or should 



 
 

5 

have known about the delay shall amount to a waiver for any additional time.  Subject 
to the terms of this section, extensions of time will not be unreasonably withheld. 

SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND INDEMNIFICATION 

Section 18) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Contract, the Contractor agrees 
to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Owner, and the affiliate companies of 
each, for any losses and expenses arising out of the negligence, recklessness, or 
willful misconduct of the Contractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed or 
subcontracted by the Contractor for whose acts it may be liable. The indemnification 
provided for herein is required only to the extent and proportion that the Contractor’s 
(or its employees or subcontractors) negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct 
contributed to such injury or damage.  

PAYMENT AND PERFORMANCE BOND 

Section 19) Upon the signing of this contract, Contractor shall give a good and sufficient 
bonds with a guaranty or surety company duly authorized to carry on business and 
execute the bonds in the State of Georgia, to be approved by the City, in an amount 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price set forth above, and said 
bond shall be maintained for no less than one year from the date of acceptance of the 
work under this contract by the City, to ensure the proper performance maintenance, 
and payment by Contractor of all amounts required to bey paid by Contractor for the 
work performed by the Contractor, its employees or subcontractors under this 
Agreement. 

ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

Section 20) This contract shall not be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the 
express written consent of City. 

PAYMENT OF MATERIALMEN BY CITY 

Section 21) If Contractor fails to pay subcontractors, the City reserves and shall have 
the right before paying Contractor, to pay any and all claims against Contractor, or 
against any subcontractor, for labor, and any claim for materials, and deduct the 
amount from the amount due Contractor. 

Section 22) In the event the City is required to pay subcontractors directly pursuant to 
Section 21, the City shall also have the right to reserve out of the amount earned under 
this contract an amount it sees fit and to hold it until satisfied that all workers have 
been fully paid. 

Section 23) Nothing contained in this contract shall in any manner create any liability 
against City on behalf of any claimant for labor or materials, and nothing herein 
contained shall affect the liability of Contractor or its sureties to City or to any worker 
or materialman upon any bond given in connection with this contract. 



 
 

6 

LAW GOVERNING CONTRACT 

Section 24) It is the intent of all parties that this Contract be governed by the law of the 
State of Georgia. 

LAWS AND REGULATIONS AFFECTING CONTRACT 

Section 25) This contract is entered into and accepted subject to the Charter and Code 
of Ordinances of the City of Dawsonville, and all such regulations and ordinances that 
may be enacted by the City during the course of this Contract relating to the subject 
of local improvements of this character. 

Section 26) Contractor agrees to comply in all respects with the laws of the United 
States of America, the laws of the State of Georgia, and the ordinances of the City of 
Dawsonville respecting labor and compensation and with all labor statutes, 
ordinances, rules and regulations applicable and having the force of law. 

Section 27) The foregoing notwithstanding, Contractor, in performing under this 
contract, shall not discriminate against any worker, employee or applicant, or any 
member of the public, because of race, creed, color, sex, age or national origin, nor 
otherwise commit an unfair employment practice. Contractor further agrees that this 
article will be incorporated by Contractor in all contracts entered into with suppliers of 
materials or services, Contractors and subcontractors and all labor organizations, 
furnishing skilled, unskilled and craft union skilled labor, or who may perform any such 
labor or services in connection with this contract.  Contractor shall complete any and 
all forms, affidavits, assurances, and certifications requested by City to comply with 
any and all rules and regulations affecting this agreement or the work to be performed 
hereunder, including but not limited to a S.A.V.E. Affidavit, as well as any other 
materials required for compliance with the One-Georgia Grant with the City of 
Dawsonville was awarded for this Project. 

DEFAULT 

Section 28) Default. If the Contractor fails to begin the work under this contract within 
the time specified, or fails to perform the work with sufficient workers and equipment 
or with sufficient materials to insure the completion of the work within the specified 
time, or shall perform the work in an unsatisfactory manner, or shall neglect or refuse 
to remove materials or perform anew such work as shall be rejected as defective or 
unsuitable, or shall discontinue the prosecution of the work, or if the Contractor shall 
become insolvent or be declared bankrupt, or shall commit any act of bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall not carry 
on the work in an acceptable manner, the City shall give notice in writing to the 
Contractor and its surety of the failure, delay, neglect, refusal, or default, specifying 
the same, and if the Contractor, within a period of seven (7) days after notice, shall 
not proceed in accordance with the notice, then the City shall have full power and 
authority to declare the forfeiture of this contract, and to forfeit the rights of the 
Contractor in this contract, and the City at its option may call upon the surety to 



 
 

7 

complete the work in accordance with the terms of this contract or may have the City 
take over the work, including any or all materials and equipment on the ground as may 
be suitable and acceptable to the City and may complete the work by or on its own 
force, or may enter into a new contract for the completion of the work, or may use 
other methods which in the opinion of the City shall be required for the completion of 
the work in an acceptable manner. All costs and charges incurred by the City, together 
with the cost of completing the work, shall be deducted from any moneys due or which 
may become due on this contract. In case the expense so incurred by the City shall 
be less than the sum which would have been payable under this contract if it had been 
completed by the Contractor and had not been forfeited by the City, then the 
Contractor shall be entitled to receive the difference, subject to any claims or liens 
which may have been filed with the City, and in case the expense shall exceed the 
sum which would have been payable under this contract, the Contractor and the surety 
shall be liable and shall pay to the City the amount of the excess. 

INSPECTORS AND COMPLETION OF WORK 

Section 29) Inspectors may be assigned by the City to inspect all materials used and all 
work done under the contract. Such inspection may extend to all or any part of the 
work and to the preparation or manufacture of the materials to be used. The inspectors 
will not be authorized to revoke, alter, enlarge or relax the provisions of the plans and 
specifications, nor to delay the fulfillment of the contract by failure to inspect materials 
and work with reasonable promptness. An inspector is assigned on the work to keep 
the City informed as to the progress of the work and the manner in which it is being 
done; also to call the attention of the Contractor to any infringement upon or failure to 
adhere to the plans and specifications. The inspector will not be authorized to approve 
or accept any portion of the work, to issue instructions contrary to the plans and 
specifications, or to act as a foreman for the Contractor. The inspector will have full 
authority to reject defective material if not repairable, and work subject to the final 
decision of the City or its designee. 

Section 30) If in the judgment of the City or its designee it is necessary to close down 
the work due to circumstances arising during the progress of the work, which may be 
construed to be dangerous, or due to noncompliance with the specifications; and if it 
is so ordered by the City, Contractor, upon receiving notice of the order in writing shall 
comply with it and stop all operations [under the contract and] upon the project, and 
the work shall remain closed down until further orders in writing are given by the City 
to Contractor to proceed with the work of the project. 

Section 31) Upon completion of the work, the City shall satisfy itself, by examination and 
test, that the work has been fully completed in accordance with the plans, 
specifications and contract documents. When the City is so satisfied, it shall advise 
the Contractor in writing of acceptance of the work. 

Section 32) The right of general supervision of the City as provided for in this Contract 
shall not make the Contractor an agent or employee of the city, but the Contractor 
shall at all times, and in all respects have the rights and liabilities of an Independent 



 
 

8 

Contractor. 

INSURANCE 

Section 33) Insurance. Contractor agrees to keep in force during the life of this contract 
such insurance policies as required in Exhibits A and/or B.  Contractor further agrees 
if requested by the City or its designee, to furnish certificates of any or all insurance 
policies listing the city as a coinsured within fifteen (15) days after execution of 
contract. 

Section 34) The Contractor and its subcontractors shall comply with the Workers’ 
Compensation Act of the State of Georgia, and shall provide compensation insurance 
to protect the Contractor, its subcontractors and the City from and against any and all 
workers' compensation claims arising from performance of the work under the 
contract. 

SPECIAL STIPULATIONS 

Section 35) The Contractor shall start the work within ten (10) calendar days of the 
execution of this agreement by the City; shall prosecute the work at place or places 
the City or its designee may from time to time direct, and shall fully complete in every 
detail all the work to be done under the contract within the time limit set forth in the 
mutually agreed upon schedule. 

Section 36) If a dispute arises out of or relating to this contract, or its breach, and if the 
dispute cannot be settled through direct discussions, the parties agree to first 
endeavor to settle the dispute in an amicable manner by mediation, before having 
recourse to a judicial forum. 

Section 37) Permits. Unless otherwise provided in this Contract, the Contractor shall 
take out, at its own expense, all permits and licenses necessary to carry out the work 
described in this contract. 

Section 38) The Contractor shall be responsible for the contracted quality and standards 
of all materials, components or completed work furnished under this contract up to the 
time of final acceptance by the City of the Contractor’s scope of work.  This shall not 
affect the responsibility of the Contractor to post and maintain the performance bond 
described above for one full year from the date of acceptance by the City.  Nor shall 
anything in this paragraph serve to limit or restrict Contractor’s liability for personal 
injury or property damage resulting from Contractor’s work for any pertinent statute of 
limitations or statute of repose. 

Section 39) Materials, components or completed work not complying with the contract 
may be rejected by the City or its designee and shall be replaced by the Contractor at 
no cost to the City. 

Section 40) The Contractor shall assume full responsibility and expense for the 
protection of all public and private property and structures, at or near the site or sites 



 
 

9 

of the work being performed under the contract, or which are in any manner affected 
by the prosecution of the work or the transportation of workers and materials in 
connection with the work.  

Section 41) Work shall normally not be done on Sundays, holidays, at night or outside 
the daytime working hours from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. except for such work as may 
be approved in writing by the City or its designee as necessary for proper care, 
maintenance and protection of work already done or of equipment, or in case of 
emergency beyond the Contractor's control where the work would be endangered or 
hazards to life or property would result. In case the Contractor considers it necessary 
to work on Sundays, holidays or at night, it shall make requests to the City or its 
designee and receive written approval at least 48 hours ahead of such work period so 
that proper inspection and service can be provided. Approval of night work may be 
revoked at any time by the City or its designee if the Contractor fails to maintain 
adequate equipment and lighting at night for the proper prosecution, control and 
inspection of the work. All possible advance warning of emergency work periods must 
be given by the Contractor to the City or its designee, and written approval of the work 
must be received by the Contractor before proceeding with work during these periods. 

Section 42) Headings.  Headings used in this document are for the purpose of the 
convenience of the parties to the Contract only, and are in no way intended to have 
substantive meaning themselves, nor to affect the substantive meaning of the body of 
this Contract. 

Section 43) Severability.  Each provision in this Contract and each part of each provision 
in this Contract shall be deemed to be severable, such that if it should be determined 
that the Contract is unenforceable in any particular, that unenforceable part shall be 
excised and the Contract will continue to be in force and effect as if such 
unenforceable provision or part thereof were never a part of the Contract.  It is the 
express intent of the parties to this Contract that if any part of the Contract is deemed 
unenforceable, that they be bound by the remainder of the Contract which is 
enforceable. 

 
  



 
 

10 

WHEREFORE the parties have signed and executed this Contract on the _____ day of 
________________, 20___. 
 
Contractor:      City of Dawsonville, Georgia 
S J Ross Enterprises, Inc. 
d/b/a Atlanta Home Theater 
 
 
 
_____________________________                 _______________________________ 
By: __________________________ John Walden, Mayor 
 
Its: __________________________ 
 
 ________________________________ 
 Beverly Banister, City Clerk 
 
 
 [CITY SEAL] 
 
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:    GEORGIA STATE PATROL POST #37 DONATION PRESENTATION   

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/04/2024  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other ________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
   TO PRESENT THE DONATION OF EQUIPMENT TO AN OFFICER FROM THE GEORGIA STATE PATROL 

POST #37  
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• COUNCIL APPROVED DONATION IN THEIR RESOLUTION #R2024-01 ON FEBRUARY 5, 2024 
• SPECIAL EQUIPMENT HAS BEEN PROVIDED FOR GSP POST #37 SINCE 2019 
• PURCHASE OF EQUIPMENT TO BE PAID FROM FY2024 GENERAL FUND ANNUAL BUDGET  
• EQUIPMENT INCLUDES FRISK GLOVES, AC/DC POWER INVERTERS, BATTERY POWERED 

DRILLS NOT TO EXCEED $3800 
       
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
      
     
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
   
 
 

 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager ____________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    8     
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PLANNING COMMISSION POST #4 APPOINTMENT 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/04/2024    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    ____ Other   

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve:    ____  Enterprise Fund    ____  General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
 

   TO APPROVE APPOINTMENT OF PLANNING COMMISSION POST #4 MEMBER: 
 

• ASHLEY STEPHENSON:  TO FILL THE UNEXPIRED TERM OF ANNA TOBOLSKI 
THROUGH 12/31/2025 

  
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• NOMINATED BY COUNCILMEMBER FRENCH 
• ALL PROCEDURES FOR APPOINTMENT HAVE BEEN COMPLETED AND MET 

 
 
 

     OPTIONS:   
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION:   
 
 
APPROVE AS REQUESTED 
 
 

 
 
REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager___ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   9     
 

 

X 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PROCLAMATION: COLORECTAL CANCER AWARENESS MONTH 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/04/2024    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO BRING AWARENESS TO COLORECTAL CANCER PREVENTION AND TO PRESENT  THE 
PROCLAMATION TO A REPRESENTATIVE FROM G.I. NORTH 

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

     
   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: John Walden, Mayor_____ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   10     
 

 

 



 

 
Proclamation 

Colorectal Cancer Awareness Month 
March 2024 

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
WHEREAS, Colorectal Cancer is the 2nd leading cause of cancer death among men 
and women combined in the United States; and  
 
WHEREAS,  Colorectal Cancer almost always develops from precancerous polyps 
(abnormal growths) in the colon or rectum; and  
 
WHEREAS, Screening tests can discover precancerous polyps so that they can be 
removed before they turn into cancer, and screenings can also find colorectal cancer 
early, when treatment works best; and   
 
WHEREAS,  Everyone age 50-75 should get screened for colorectal cancer; the 
U.S. Preventative Task Force recommends screenings begin at age 50 while some 
groups recommend starting at age 45 or earlier, particularly for those with a family 
history of this type of cancer; and 
 
WHEREAS, Anyone who believes they may be at increased risk for colorectal 
cancer should learn their family history and ask their doctor if they should begin 
screenings before age 50; and 
 
WHEREAS, Millions of people in the United States are not getting screened as 
recommended, which can result in missing the chance to prevent colorectal cancer 
or to find it early, when treatment is most likely to lead to a cure; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, I, John Walden, Mayor of the City of Dawsonville, Georgia 
do hereby proclaim March 2024 as Colorectal Cancer Awareness Month in 
the City of Dawsonville, Georgia.  
 
IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal 
of the City of Dawsonville this 4th day of March 2024.  
 

     
 
 ____________________________    
            John Walden, Mayor 
 

 
 
 
Attest: 

 
 
                __________      
             Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk    



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   DAWSON COUNTY SCHOOLS: REQUEST FOR RESERVATION OF PICKLEBALL 

COURTS 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/04/2024  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    
TO REQUEST APPROVAL TO PERMIT DAWSON COUNTY SCHOOLS TO RESERVE THE 

PICKLEBALL COURTS FOR THE USE OF FITNESS TIME FOR THE STUDENTS AND STAFF  
 
THE RESERVED TIME WOULD BE ONE TUESDAY OF THE MONTH FROM THE HOURS OF 3:00 

PM TO 5:00 PM 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 

SEE ATTACHED LETTER 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   11     
 

 

 



 Dawson County Schools 
 28 Main Street 
 Dawsonville, GA 30534 
 (706) 265-3246 
 FAX (706) 265-1226 
 www.dawsoncountyschools.org 

 Mrs. Nicole LeCave 
 Superintendent 

 

 

 

February 23, 2024 

 

 

To whom it may concern: 

 

The Wellness Committee of Dawson County Schools believes in engaging students and staff 

members in a healthy lifestyle through health and wellness.  Our program teaches nutrition, 

challenges students and staff to eat healthy, and engages all through physical fitness.   

 

We would like to request of the City of Dawsonville, the exclusive use of the park pickle ball 

courts for our students and staff to have fitness time one Tuesday of the month from the hours of 

three to five P.M.  Our hope is to get our students and faculty members engaged in outdoor 

activity that will promote our wellness goals.  We are flexible on the week of the month based on 

whatever your council could arrange.   

 

On behalf of the Wellness Committee of Dawson County Schools, I appreciate your time and 

consideration in this matter.  You may reach me at 706-631-4661 if you require further 

information. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Scott Richardson 

Director of School Nutrition  

Dawson County Schools 

 

Board Members: 

Karen Armstrong 

Doris Cook 

Nathan Ingram 

Barry Slaton 

Elaine Wilson  

http://www.dawsoncountyschools.org/


                                           
 

 

     SUBJECT: ____RESTRUCTURE PERMIT TECHNICIAN POSITION TO BUILDING INSPECTOR__ 
 

     DATE(s):                  _   WORK SESSION                          ________      CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
  
 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #_______________________________________ 

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
To better utilize personnel in making the Planning and Zoning Department more efficient by restructuring the 
Permit Technician to Building Inspector. We have a greater need for additional support capabilities for the 
processes of plan review and building inspections with emphasis on the vertical building portion of plan review 
for setbacks, square feet, and related residential plan review, conduction of actual building inspections, and the 
administrative side of related building permits. We had been cross training our previous permit technician in 
this direction due to the excessive number of development projects underway and on the books. 
 
Clay Moss will continue to deal with the civil side of plan review, land development and inspection, pre-
construction meetings, erosion control, etc. Other license and permits are now being handled by staff. 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES 
The City of Dawsonville Personnel Policy allows for restructuring of city positions under sections 10.4 10.4: 
The Mayor and City Council, or the City Manager with the City Council’s approval may restructure positions 
upon the identification of a need and a determination of necessity and available funding with the budget. As 
may become necessary, the Mayor and City Council may approve the restructuring of positions and duties with 
positions to better promote the efficiency and best interests of the city. 
 
Recruitment and retention of the position will most likely require a salary increase with the expanded role of 
position. The salary increase will be based on the current market for this type of position and the experience 
and certifications of the applicants. 
 
Funding is available within the General Fund budget, in fact with the extended vacancy of this position, we 
anticipate a funding surplus.  
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
Staff recommend approval of restructuring the position of Permit Technician to Building Inspector. 
 
 
 

 
     DEPARTMENT:  ____Planning and Zoning__________________________________________________ 

 
     REQUESTED BY: ___City Manager________________________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 12 

 

 



  
  CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
   
              BUILDING INSPECTOR                     PZ/4 
                   Non-Exempt 

                                                                                                                      7400 General 
JOB SUMMARY 

 
This position is responsible for participating in the department’s building inspection functions. 
 
MAJOR DUTIES 

 
• Reviews residential and commercial plans for permitting; ensures compliance with codes and 

zoning requirements; verifies proper contractor and subcontractor licensing; verifies flood zone 
requirements. 

• Performs residential and commercial building, electrical, mechanical and plumbing inspections. 
• Reviews permits and plans for other construction projects, including fence permits, change of 

occupancy/exiting building permits, pool permits, irrigation permits, electrical upgrade permits, 
mechanical change out permits, addition permits, and accessory building permits; conducts related 
inspections. 

• Assists the public with code and zoning related questions. 
• Faxes reports and power releases. 
• Makes copies of all building packets needed for permitting. 
• Files all inspection reports. 
• Issues permits by taking payments, completing paperwork, and explaining the inspection process. 
• Responds to citizen complaints and concerns. 
• Attends pre-construction meetings. 
• Maintains applicable certifications. 
• Figures permit, tap and connection fees. 
• Reviews flood elevation certificates for completion and compliance. 
• Organizes and maintains files on active and completed projects. 
• Receives daily inspection requests. 
• Organizes daily inspections. 
• Attends safety meetings. 
• Performs other related duties as assigned. 

 
KNOWLEDGE REQUIRED BY THE POSITION 

 
• Knowledge of building construction principles. 
• Knowledge of water system, sewer system and road construction principles. 
• Knowledge of erosion control rules and regulations. 
• Knowledge of building codes. 
• Knowledge of city ordinances. 
• Knowledge of zoning laws and regulations. 
• Skill in the review of construction drawings and plans. 
• Skill in the inspection of construction projects. 
• Skill in the analysis of problems and the development and implementation of solutions. 
• Skill in the preparation of clear and precise administrative reports. 
• Skill in oral and written communication. 

 
SUPERVISORY CONTROLS 

 
The Planning Director assigns work in terms of general instructions. Review of work through 
performance evaluations, reports, and observation of department activities.  Completed work spot-
checked for compliance with procedures, accuracy, and the nature and propriety of the final results. 



                                                                      
 

 Building Inspector, PZ/4 
 Page 2 

 
GUIDELINES 

 
Guidelines include the City Charter, Code of Ordinances, policies and procedures, state and federal 
law, Corps of Engineers standards, and Federal Emergency Management Agency guidelines. These 
guidelines require judgment, selection and interpretation in application. This position develops 
department guidelines. 
 
COMPLEXITY/SCOPE OF WORK 

 
• The work consists of related building inspection duties. Strict regulations contribute to the 

complexity of the position. 
• The purpose of this position is to participate in the city’s building inspection operations. Success in 

this position ensures compliances with all relevant laws, regulations, codes and ordinances. 
 

CONTACTS 
  

• Contacts are typically with co-workers, other city employees, builders, developers, engineers, 
architects, elected and appointed officials, real estate agents, insurance agents, property owners, 
and the general public. 

• Contacts are typically to provide services; to give or exchange information; to resolve problems; or 
to justify, defend or negotiate matters. 

 
PHYSICAL DEMANDS/ WORK ENVIRONMENT 

 
• The work is typically performed while sitting at a desk or table or while intermittently sitting, 

standing, walking, bending, crouching, or stooping.  The employee occasionally lifts light and heavy 
objects, climbs ladders, distinguishes between shades of color, and utilizes the sense of smell. 

• The work is typically performed in an office and outdoors, occasionally in cold or inclement weather. 
The employee is exposed to noise, dust, dirt, grease, machinery with moving parts, contagious or 
infectious diseases, or irritating chemicals. Work requires the use of protective devices such as 
masks, goggles, gloves, etc. 
 

SUPERVISORY AND MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 

None. 
 
MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 

 
• Knowledge and level of competency commonly associated with completion of specialized training in 

the field of work, in addition to basic skills typically associated with a high school education. 
• Sufficient experience to understand the basic principles relevant to the major duties of the position, 

usually associated with the completion of an apprenticeship/internship or having had a similar 
position for one to two years. 

• Possession of or ability to readily obtain the appropriate state certification for the type of 
inspection(s) conducted. 
 

LICENSE AND CERTIFICATIONS 
 

• Valid Class C Driver’s License. 
• Must have and maintain a satisfactory Motor Vehicle Record (MVR).  

 
SALARY RANGE 

 
Based on level of qualifications and experience. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:  ATLANTA MOTORSPORTS PARK: SPECIAL EVENT REQUEST TO EXCEED 

SOUND LIMITS 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/04/2024     
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

TO REQUEST APPROVAL OF SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT FOR A TRACK DAY ON MONDAY, 
MARCH 25TH 2024 TO ALLOW SOUND LIMITS TO BE EXCEEDED   
 
SEE ATTACHED ZSP C2300063 STIPULATION #17 FOR SOUND LIMITS 

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• ZSP C2300063 STIPULATION #19 REQUIRES CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL TO CONDUCT 
A RACING EVENT WITH DIFFERENT PERFORMANCE STANDARDS ON A CASE BY CASE 
BASIS. (SEE ATTACHED) 

 

• FIRST TIME REQUEST SINCE ZSP C2300063 WAS APPROVED IN 2023 
 

• APPLICANT HAS BEEN REQUESTED TO ATTEND THE MEETING TO ANSWER 
QUESTIONS 

 

   
 

     OPTIONS:   

STAFF RECOMMENDS DETERMINING SPECIFICS OF REQUEST IN TERMS OF EXPECTATION 
OF EXCEEDING SOUND LIMITS OF THE STIPULATION AND LENGTH OF TIME TO BE 
EXCEEDED 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDS CONSIDERATION OF APPLICANT CONTACTING SURROUNDING 
PROPERTY OWNERS 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Stacy Harris, Planning & Zoning Department    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   13     
 

 

 




















	1. 03.04.2024 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting 
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2. 02.19.2024 MINUTES City Council Regular Meeting and Work Session.DRAFT
	7b. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items CITY-AMICALOLA FM AGREEMENT
	7b. 2. FARMERS MARKET USE AGREEMENT.2024
	5. Duties and Obligations of CHAMBER. CHAMBER shall hold a Farmers Market at the Pavilion each Scheduled Day during the Term. On scheduled Saturdays, the Farmers Market shall not open for sales before 8:00 a.m. and shall end sales no later than 1:00 P...

	7c. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items RENTAL PROPERTY
	7c. 2. 2024 LEASE AGREEMENT_Rental House Flat Creek
	7c. 3. 557 Hwy 9N rental property Lease Agreement
	7d. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items DHM AWARDED BID CONTRACTS
	7d. 2. Windsor Pine LLC Agreement
	7d. 3. WH Platts Co. Agreement
	7d. 4. Atlanta Home Theater Agreement
	8. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items GSP DONATION PRESENTATION
	9. 1. Executive Summary For PC APPOINTMENT
	10. 1 Executive Summary PROCLAMATIONS
	10. 2. Proclamation Coloretal Cancer Awareness Month 2024
	11. 1. Executive Summary For Agenda Items DC SCHOOL PICKLEBALL
	11. 2. P  R Letter.docx
	12. 1. Executive Summary for Permit Tech to Bldg Insp
	12. 2. PZ4 - Building Inspector
	13. 1. 03.04.2024_EXECUTIVE SESSION_UNLIMITED SOUNDS
	13. 2. 20240228145336553_Redacted



